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Alpha Bank Albania remains committed to the principles 
and values that have governed its operation since its very 
establishment. Its primary aim is credibility, reliability and 
efficiency in banking services. 

Our everyday mission is to be a trusted partner to all our 
clients by creating relationships based on trust, respect 
and sincerity, relationships that we evolve into powerful, 
longlasting bonds. 

Our vision is to improve constantly our products and 
services in order to meet our clients’ needs and contribute 
on improving the quality of their lives.  

We care about our clients’ savings and we support them 
with beneficial investment and deposit products. 

We care about our clients’ dreams and needs and we 
support them realize them through lending products with 
favorable terms and conditions and preferential interest rates.

We care about our business partners and we support 
them in their daily operations to help them grow and move 
toward success.

We care about our employees by providing them a fair 
working environment through a modern remuneration 
policy, equal opportunities for career development and 
absence of all discrimination

We care about the country we operate and we substantially 
contribute on the growth of Albania’s economy

We care about the environment by developing and 
enhancing sustainable ‘’green practices and environment 
footprint in general.

We care about the society by supporting it through a very 
rich sponsorship program. 

We care about our Shareholders by committing to 
maintain a strong financial position focused on profitability. 

OUR MISSION AND VISION

WE CARE ...
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holding a sound liquidity base: the CAR of 19.27%, the 
liquidity ratio of 44.28%, and a significantly improved NPL 
Ratio, show a strong and stable Bank, being amply above 
the minimal local regulatory requirements.
Despite the net financial results in 2016 (according to IFRS 
standards), Alpha Bank Albania remained one of the top 
5 Banks in Albania in terms of household/retail lending. 
Furthermore, Alpha Bank Albania has pursued a strategy 
for NPLs management, in order to maximize their recovery 
potential as well as having a more qualitative wholesale and 
retail portfolio.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express 
my sincere appreciation to the members of the Board of 
Directors, Management Board and employees of the Bank 
for their hard work and dedication. 

We are positive that the upcoming year will be a successful 
one for Alpha Bank Albania, as we strongly rely on the local 
management team, which not only has shown high levels of 
expertise and professionalism, but also the required energy 
and the goodwill in achieving the business targets for 2017.

A.C. THEODORIDIS
Chairman Board of Directors Alpha Bank Albania

During 2016, despite the challenging economic environment, 
Alpha Bank Group has managed to maintain intact its 
operational capacity. The Group’s Pre Provision Net Income 
stood at Euro 1,924.1 million, showing an increase of 1.4% 
since last year, driven by the lower wholesale funding costs 
and deposit re-pricing. The financial indicators of the Bank 
were strongly impacted due to the economic environment, 
but, despite this, Alpha Bank Group confirmed itself as 
a leading banking group in Greece, with solid and stable 
financial indicators.

Regarding the Albanian economy, 2016 has been a 
challenging year for both the economy and banking 
industry. Following the fragile economic recovery/growth 
of the last few years, the Albanian economy has succeeded 
in maintaining positive growth rates.

More precisely, regarding the banking sector in Albania, the 
credit to the private sector grew by 3.9% in annual terms, 
driven by both domestic and foreign currency lending. The 
accommodative monetary policy implemented by the Bank 
of Albania, has strongly supported the increase in domestic 
demand and improved customers’ confidence. The banking 
system continued to show stability – in terms of liquidity 
and capitalization – although nonperforming loans (NPLs) 
have impacted significantly Banks’ profitability.

However, Albania still faces some major challenges that 
need to be tackled straightaway:  the political setting, 
which strongly impacts the decision-making of domestic 
economy factors and foreign investors; the transparency 
and legal/regulatory framework, which are helping the 
foreign investors to get the needed reliable information 
and, in addition, the ongoing justice reform are all expected 
to have a strong impact on the business environment.

For Alpha Bank Albania 2016 has been an important year. 
The Bank confirmed its’ position in the Albanian banking 
sector. During the year, the Bank has focused its effort on 

Letter from the Chairman
Board of Directors 
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Political and economic developments in Albania 
continued to have significant volte-faces during 2016. The 
encouraging 3.3% economic growth for the first three 
quarters of the year, has given a positive stimulus to the 
overall macroeconomic developments, whilst challenges  
that the economy still faces might undermine the stable 
growth and development. Private consumption and large 
energy-related foreign direct investments projects were 
the major tailwinds for the economy progress, while the 
positive growth rate in neighbouring countries has been 
translated into stable remittances.

Despite the local, regional and international challenging 
financial markets conditions, supervisory and regulatory 
measures at national and European level, Alpha Bank 
Albania maintained to safeguard the Capital Adequacy Ratio 
of 19.27%. The prudent business expansion preserved the
liquidity base reflected in the Liquidity Ratio of 44.28%. 
The financial position of the bank revealed once again a 
well-capitalized and liquid bank, able to expand its’ banking 
activities.

Alpha Bank Albania confirmed its loans’ market share of 
5.86% (as of December 2016). The credit business volumes 
in 2016 presented a moderate loan portfolio increase in 
parallel with a constant monitoring of Risk Weighted Assets.
The NPL ratio was significantly reduced, which confirmed 
ABA’s loan portfolio quality, and the financial soundness of 
it. The total loan portfolio stood at the amount of EUR 366 
million, while deposits stood at EUR 435 million, in line with 
the bank strategy to maintain a stable deposits’ level and 
decrease the cost of funds. With reference to retail banking 
activities, Alpha Bank Albania has preserved its position in 
the market, with 6.4% share in consumer lending and 8.95% 
in housing lending, a much appreciated achievement.

During 2016 we have stayed faithful to our commitment 
towards our clients: rather than the “bait and switch” 
approach, we used a clear, straightforward and easy-to- 
understand language. In the framework of digital and hi- 

tech development, technological standards continue to be 
a prominent priority for the Bank, aiming at perfectioning 
customer service and satisfaction. Our more than 244.000 
customers have at their disposal a nationwide network 
consisting of 35 branches, 50 ATMs and more than 1.232 
POSs to meet their needs. As of the end of 2016, an overall 
of 8.500 credit cards and 77.000 debit cards have been 
issued by the Bank, and proudly, Alpha Bank Albania is the 
exclusive issuer of the prestigious American Express cards’ 
brand.

Alpha Bank Albania is a leading player in the framework of 
the Corporate Social Responsibility, and we continued our 
social contribution throughout 2016, by supporting different 
projects and programs, in healthcare, education, culture, 
society, environment and human resources development. 

Last but not least, I would like to take this opportunity 
to express my gratitude to the Board of Directors, 
Management Team and staff for their hard work and 
devotion to deliver quality service and results. Thanks to 
their work and dedication, professional standards and 
commitment to excellence, we are confident that 2017 
will be a very successful year for the Bank, our clients, our 
shareholders and society.

P. F. DROUGKAS
Chief Executive Officer Alpha Bank Albania

Letter from the Chief 
Executive Officer
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Alpha Bank Albania started to operate in the country in 
January 1998 as a branch of the Alpha Bank A.E., one of the 
largest banks in Greece, established in 1879 and in addition 
to Greece the bank is conducting business in the South-
Eastern European Countries, UK, and Cyprus. The name of 
the branch initially was Alpha Credit Bank – Tirana Branch 
and now the name is Alpha Bank Albania SHA. Since 1998 
the branch has used the same trade name, ALPHA BANK.

Alpha Bank is one of the largest banks in the country with 
considerable market share in wholesale and retail business. 
Alpha Bank’s aim is to maintain a robust capital base to 
sustain the development of the bank and retain the trust 
of depositors, markets and business partners. The bank is 
maintaining high liquidity ratios. Also, for many years, Alpha 
Bank is a self-funding bank with a positive deposit-loan gap 
per currency and all currencies.

Alpha Bank was historically concentrated on the financing 
of the companies ranking for many years as the main player 
in the Albania Economy. In two last decades, Alpha Bank 
granted the biggest loan to a private company, it was 
one of the main participants in the biggest syndicated 
loan in the country to a private company; it has financed 
the biggest infrastructure projects in Albania: Tirana 
International Airport, Telecommunication Industry, etc.; 
and in cooperation with international financial institutions 
has financed many other private important projects. Also, 
Alpha Bank it was the first local bank arranging the biggest 
syndicated loan to the Albania Government.

Today, Alpha Bank delivers quality service to more than 
250 thousand customers through a large branch network 
around the country and other alternative channels such 
as 50 ATMs, Web and Mobile Banking and 1 232 POS 
terminals. 

The bank is a leader in the cards business, offering credit 
cards under the trademarks of American Express and VISA. 
The bank is exclusive issuer and acquirer of American 
Express cards, providing a list of privileges and benefits to 
the cardholders that use this payment instrument all over 
the globe. The debit card VISA electron provides access 
to the customer accounts with absolutely no costs for the 
transactions performed in the ATM network of Alpha Bank 
while the Enter American Express debit card apart the 
access at any time in the customer account, can be used 
for online transactions.

In order to reward it American Express cardholders the 

The Main Historical Events

Bank has launched the first rewarding program in Albania, 
the Alpha Bank Bonus, which gives cash back to its 
customers in every transaction they made in a prestigious 
list of merchants in Albania.

A wide range of deposit and investment products are 
offered to the individual clients, providing tailor-made 
solutions for all their needs, and combining profitability 
through competitive interest rates and flexibility through 
access to funds as per preferences. Today the Bank lists 
different deposit products, categorized in term and non-
term deposits, which cover in full the needs of the customer 
for these products and reward them in accordance with the 
investment scheme selected.

In terms of retail lending, the Bank maintains a high ranking 
position for retail lending, with particular attention to 
housing loans. Competitive terms and conditions, such as 
favorable tenor and low monthly payments have made our 
retail lending products quite attractive in the local market, 
whereas the existing customers have the flexibility of 
combining fixed and variable interest rate periods, revision 
of loan terms in cases of payment difficulties and also the 
auxiliary service of SMS notification for the loan installment. 
Small business lending is the focus of the bank’s business 
development efforts, as it provides this very important 
segment with the liquidity it needs for sustaining and 
growing, and constitutes a strong bond for other additional 
banking services and products to SME-s.

The banking operations are supported with a modern 
technology and Management Information Systems, which 
offers maximum security in every transaction made inside 
the branches or at the alternative channels.

A valuable asset of the Bank is it staff which it 
professionalism, dedication to the customer and the 
continuous improvement has contributed to the progress 
of the Bank during its 18 years of presence in the market.
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• Alpha Bank started to operate in Albania as a branch of a foreign bank  
 under the name “ALPHA CREDIT BANK - TIRANA BRANCH” with a paid  
 in capital USD 2.5 million and with the registered office: Blv. Zogu i Irë, No  
 47, Tirana. The branch was identified by its trade name “ALPHA BANK” 

• The first company loan has been disbursed

• Dealing Room starts operating

• The first housing loan was disbursed

• The first car loan was disbursed  

• The first onsite through-the-wall ATM was installed and a cash card in local currency   
 was introduced

• Two more branches were opened during this year

• The execution of the Agreement with the Tirana Stock Exchange on stock exchange   
 transactions clearing 

• During this year the bank started to extend the branch network in Tirana and in other   
 areas around the country 

• Alpha Bank took the license for the Visa cards

• Five new branches were opened during the year 

• The ATM network was expanded with off-site lobby ATMs and onsite ones

• VISA DEBIT Cards have been issued 

• A new organizational chart was introduced in order to centralize the  decision making   
 process and also to centralize some of the banking operations

• Albanian Securities Commission grants the license to operate as a trader of government  
 securities in Tirana Stock exchange and retail market. 

• Albanian Securities Commission grants the license to operate as registrar for the treasury  
 bills of the government 

• The name of the Tirana Branch was change in “Alpha Bank A.E. – Tirana Branch”   
 following the change of the name of the bank in Greece

• Alpha Bank A.E.-Tirana Branch started to expand its presence in the country by two   
 more branches out of Tirana Area City. 

• The paid in capital was considerably increased in order to support the increase of the assets,. 

• The Albanian Securities Commission grants the license to operate as trader of treasury  
 bills in Tirana Stock Exchange   

• A new branch in a small city with a good performance from the first year   
 encouraged the expansion of the branch network in all country

• The biggest loan to a private borrower was granted

• The branch network was extended by a branch in south of Albania 

• The biggest syndicated loan was granted 

• The first agency started to operate in a  Custom Area 
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• The name of Tirana Branch was change in to “ALPHA BANK – ALBANIA”.  
 However the trade name continued to be “ALPHA BANK” 

• Six more branches were opened during this year including a first branch in  
 North of Albania.

• VISA CREDIT cards have been issued

• The first credit products to individuals were introduced to the market

• This year the network was expanded by 22 new branches expanding the  
 presence in many cities about of the area of the main cities in Albania 

• The biggest financing amount for public works through a loan to the   
 government. The financed project was : Durres – Kukës - Morinë Road”. 

• Alpha Bank took the license as the exclusive issuer of the American Express 

• Web banking started to operate as an alternative channel 

• The Bank celebrated its 10th anniversary in a big event with the Banks’  
 upper management and main clients 

• The register office was transferred from Zog i Ire, nr 47, in the 2-nd floor of  
 Business Centre G-KAM, Kavaja Street

• The first products for Small Businesses were introduced to the market

• The paid in capital was considerably increased million due to the   
 capitalization of retained earnings of 2005 - 2009 

• The bank covered all the areas of the country adding to its branch network  
 six more branches 

• The core banking system of the bank was a migrated to a technology  
 modern one. 

• Was launched the Enter American Express Card – a debit cart linked to  the 
account of the customer which allows him to use it in the POS terminals in 
Albania and outside where the logo of American Express is present and can 
be used for online purchases as well

• Started the Alpha Bank Bonus rewarding program, created to reward 
through cash back all the American Express card holders in every purchase 
they make in a list of prestigious merchants.

• An increase of the paid in capital and a subordinated debt increase the  
 capital adequacy in a very satisfactory level. 

• Enrichment of products platform and investments strategies

• Alpha Bank was transformed from a branch of a foreign bank into a    
 subsidiary bank of a foreign bank with the name ALPHA BANK ALBANIA  
 and a trade name ALPHA BANK

• Started to operate the Alpha Bank Mobile Banking platform 

20
07

20
08

 
20

09
20

15
20

11
20

12
20

14



ANNUAL REPORT 2016

11

Alpha Bank Albania considers the proper and responsible 
implementation of corporate governance principles as a 
key prerequisite for generating value for its Shareholder and 
society. The corporate governance principles and practices 
applied by Alpha Bank Albania comply with the provisions 
of the regulatory framework and with the policies of the 
Group. These principles and practices are described in the 
Corporate Governance Code. The Corporate Governance 
Code of Alpha Bank Albania defines the duties and 
allocates the responsibilities among the Board of Directors, 
Committees at Board level, the Management Board and 
other management Committees of the Bank. In addition, it 
sets out the framework and guidelines for the governance 
of the Bank. 

The Bank implements a comprehensive internal control 
system in accordance with international standards and 
the local regulatory framework. In addition, the Bank has 
adopted a Code of Ethics promoting the standards required 
by modern corporate governance and internal control 
system.

Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors convened 9 times in 2016 and it 
comprises of the following Non-Executive Members: 

Chairman 
Artemios Theodoridis  
He studied Economics and holds an MBA from the University 
of Chicago. He joined Alpha Bank A.E. as Executive General 
Manager in 2002. He has been a member of the Board of 
Directors of Alpha Bank A.E. and a General Manager since 
2005. 
He is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Alpha Bank 
Albania since 2012.   

Vice Chairman 
Konstantinos Dorkofikis
He holds a Bachelor Degree in Electrical Engineering from 
the National Technical University of Athens, as well as an 
MSc in Shipping Finance from City University, London. 
He joined Alpha Bank in 1999. He was Corporate Banking 
Manager from 2007 until June 2013, when he was appointed 
Executive General Manager of Alpha Bank A.E.
He is the Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Alpha 
Bank Albania since 2016.

Corporate Governance Statement 

Independent Member 
Ioannis Parlitsis 
He studied Computer Programming at the Bull General 
Electric. He has worked in Emporiki Bank reaching the 
positions of Deputy General Manager and Chief Operations 
Officer. He also worked in Emporiki Credicom, National 
Bank and Alpha Bank. 

Independent Member 
Ilir Ciko 
He graduated in engineering at the University of Tirana and 
holds an MBA from the University of Nebraska and Faculty 
of Economy of University of Tirana, and an MPA from 
Harvard University, USA. He has lectured business and 
public policy courses since 2004 (currently at the Canadian 
Institute of Technology) and has worked for long time as 
an advisor and consultant for international organizations 
and projects including the World Bank, UNDP, ILO, USAID, 
Oxfam GB etc. He has a considerable experience in the 
public service and during 2003-2005 he was Deputy 
Minister of Economy.

Independent Member 
Edlira Luçi 
She studied Economy and Commerce in the University 
of Bari, Italy. In 2005 she completed her Ph.D in Finance, 
in the University of Tirana and from 2011 she holds the 
title of Associate Professor. Ms. Luci is the Head of the 
Finance Department in the University of Tirana, Faculty 
of Economics. She has been a Committee Member of 
the Board of Directors in the Albanian Deposit Insurance 
Agency. Since 2008 she has been member of the Scientific 
Committee of the Faculty of Economics, University of 
Tirana.

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee comprises of the following, Non-
Executive Members: 
• Ioannis Monastiriotis, Chairman 
• Ioanna Anagnostopoulou 
• Vasilis Kakalis

Both the Internal Audit Division Manager and the Compliance 
Department Manager report to the Audit Committee. 
The Committee convened four times in 2016. 
The committee was briefed about the extent of audits carried 
out by the Internal Audit Division and in particular about 
their findings related to the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Internal Control System. Additionally, the Audit 
Committee approved the annual audit plan and annual 
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compliance program for the forthcoming year. During 
the regular meeting session, the annual and semi-annual 
financial statements were presented by the Finance and 
Accounting Division Manager. The Financial Statements 
were approved by the Audit Committee. 

The Chairman of the Audit Committee regularly briefed the 
Board of Directors on the issues monitored, discussed and 
decided upon. 

Risk Committee 
The Risk Committee comprises of the following, Members: 
• George Adraktas, Chairman
• Ioannis Parlitsis
• Ilir Ciko

During 2016 the Risk Committee convened three times. 
The Committee evaluated the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Bank’s Internal Control System and in particular risk 
management policies, manuals and procedures. 

The Risk Committee went through analysis of various 
elements of risk (credit, market, liquidity, operational) 
issues and was informed about the other executive 
committees’ activities and decisions, such as: ALCO, 
Credit Risk Committee, and Operational Risk Committee. 
The Loan Portfolio and Investment Portfolio performance 
on quarterly basis was on the focus of the Risk Committee, 
along with quality analysis and strategies for the mitigation 
of the credit risk. 

The Risk Committee took decisions related to the 
improvement of the identification, measurement and 
treatment and monitoring of risks. 

Apart from the Risk Management Division presentations 
and proposals, Retail Banking Business Unit and Non-
Performing Loans Wholesale Banking Division have 
contributed with their analysis and proposals for the 
mitigation of the relevant credit risk. 

The Chairman of the Risk Committee has regularly briefed 
the Board of Directors on the issues it monitored, discussed 
and decided upon.
 
Management Board

The Management Board is Alpha Bank’s highest executive body. 
It convenes at least once a week and is chaired by the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Bank. During 2016 it convened 67 
times. As and when necessary and depending on the agenda, 
other Managers of the Bank also attend this meeting. The 
Management Board carries out a review of the domestic and 
international economy and market developments, and examines 
issues of business planning and policy. Furthermore, it deliberates 
on issues related to the development of the branch network and 
approves the Rules and Regulations of the Bank along with the 
Budget.

The Management Board Members are: 

• Periklis Drougkas  -  Chief Executive Officer 
He studied Economics and Business at the University of Athens. 
He is Certified Economist by the Economic Chamber of Greece. 
Periklis Drougkas’ banking career commenced in 1974 at the 
Citibank NA, Citicorp Financial Services with eighteen year’s 
tenure in this leading global financial services organization. In 
1994 he joined ING Bank N.V. – Greece as Assistant General 
Manager - Head of Retail Banking Division and subsequently 
held the position of General Manager at Egnatia Bank S.A. in 
2004 and EFG Eurobank Group in 2007. Periklis Drougkas joined 
Alpha Bank Group in 2008 as Head of Retail Banking Division 
and Member of Country Executive Board of Alpha Bank Serbia. 
Since February 15, 2012 is appointed as Chief Executive Officer 
in Alpha Bank Albania. 

• Orfea Dhuci - Economic Advisor  
He studied Finance in the University of Tirana, Faculty of 
Economy. In 1993 he completed his PhD in Finance and holds 
the academic title of Associate Professor. From 1991 to 1993 he 
has worked in Agricultural and Development Bank in the position 
of Chief Executive Officer. In 1993 he joined Rural Commercial 
Bank (RCB) as Vice Chief Executive Officer. He has been working 
with Alpha Bank Albania since its creation in 1997 in the position 
of Assistant Branch Manager of Alpha Bank Branch in Albania. 
From 2006 he has held the position of Wholesale Business Unit 
Manager and from 2012 up to date he is the Economic Advisor 
of Alpha Bank Albania SHA. 

• Nikolaos Lamprakakis - Wholesale Banking Business 
Unit Manager  
After graduation from Piraeus University in Business 
Administration he continued his studies for a MBA at the 
University of Aston, Birmingham, United Kingdom. In 1990 
he started his career at the Audit Divisions of KPMG initially 
in Southampton and soon after in Greece until 1992 when he 
joined the Corporate Department of Egnatia Bank. In 1995 he 
moved to the Corporate Department of Barclays Bank in Athens.  
Since 2000 he has been working in Alpha Bank at the Corporate, 
SME Lending and the International Wholesale Divisions. In 2013, 
he moved to Alpha Bank Bulgaria in the position of Wholesale 
Banking Business Unit Manager and since April 2016 he holds 
the position of Wholesale Banking Business Unit Manager of 
Alpha Bank Albania.  

• Brunilda Isaj - Retail Banking Business Unit Manager  
She graduated from the University of Tirana, Faculty of Foreign 
Languages (English), in 1999, and obtained her MBA, General 
Route, from the University of New York Tirana, in July 2013. Her 
career started with Emporiki Bank Albania, where she handled 
corporate and SME financing; then continued at Raiffeisen 
Bank Albania as a Regional Manager and later on as a Business 
Development Manager for SME-s. In May 2008 she joined 
Credins Bank as Manager of the Development Department, and 
as of October 2009 on-wards she is part of Alpha Bank Albania 
in the position of Retail Banking Business Unit Manager and 
member of the Management Board.
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• Alban Burazeri - Operations & IT Business Unit Manager  
He studied Computer Science in the University of Tirana, Faculty 
of Natural Sciences where he has been graduated in 1991. He 
holds a Master degree and a PHD degree in Computer Science 
from the same university since 2007 and 2016, respectively. He 
started his career in the University of Shkoder as a lecturer. From 
1996 to 1997 he has worked in the Rural Commercial Bank of 
Albania as the Computer Based Information Systems (CBIS) 
Department Manager.
Mr. Burazeri joined Alpha Bank Albania in 1997 and since 2006 
up to date he is the Operations & IT Business Unit Manager and 
member of the Management Board.

Certified Auditors 
The Auditors of the annual and semi-annual 2016 financial 
statements are KPMG Albania Certified Auditors. 

Internal Audit
In order to protect the Bank’s assets and safeguard Shareholder’s 
interests, an Internal Control System has been established 
including auditing mechanisms and procedures, which cover all 
activities on a continuous basis and contribute to the effective 
and secure operation of the Bank.
Using audit methods that are based on risk assessment and 
utilizing specialized internal audit project management software, 
an integrated approach is adopted in terms of the organization, 
execution, and evaluation of the audit procedure and the 
generation of reports.
In 2016, the Internal Audit Division carried out audits at the 
Branches and Central Units of the Bank. Also, the most important 
findings assessed as medium and above medium risk findings 
were in focus of a close monitoring from the Internal Audit 
Division. The Board of Directors has approved the appointment 
of all Internal Auditors including the Manager of Internal Audit 
Division.
The Management and the Audit Committee of the Bank’s Board 

of Directors were briefed about the audits’ findings and the 
Internal Control System’s issues.

Regulatory Compliance
The Bank identifies, evaluates and manages risks it may 
be exposed to due to failure to comply with the applicable 
regulatory framework (compliance risk). In this context, it 
continuously collects, records, processes and interprets data on 
the regulatory framework, monitors forthcoming changes and 
records deviations from the requirements and obligations for the 
Bank so as to evaluate promptly their consequences, implement 
suitable measures and safeguard both the Bank’s interests and 
reputation.

The most important actions in this area in 2016 were as follows:

• Supervising and effectively coordinating the AML Officers in 
Branches of the Bank to ensure their activities are always in line 
with the applicable Group and local regulatory framework.

• Safeguarding of the Bank’s consumer protection policy and 
procedures such as pre-contractual information and acceptance 
of the Bank’s terms of business in the consumer credit sector 
and evaluation of the Bank’s products and services in line with 
the applicable regulatory framework.

• Monitoring and coordinating measures to identify money 
laundering and terrorism financing by putting in place procedures 
to prevent and reduce the risks arising from potential cases 
Guidelines are provided to the Bank’s Branch Network for the 
said matter.

• Particular emphasis was placed on the training program of 
the Bank. Through lectures-presentations, efforts are made 
to consolidate and ensure implementation of the regulatory 
compliance principles and to increase the Employee awareness 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS - ALPHA BANK ALBANIA Term expiry date 
Chairman Non-executive A. Theodoridis  13/03/2020
Vice Chairman Non-executive C. Dorkofikis  13/03/2020
Member Independent, Non-executive I. Ciko  13/03/2020
Member Independent, Non-executive E. Luçi  13/03/2020
Member Independent, Non-executive I. Parlitsis  13/03/2020

AUDIT COMMITTEE - ALPHA BANK ALBANIA Term expiry date 
Chairman Non-executive I. Monastiriotis  08/04/2020
Member Non-executive I. Anagnostopoulou  08/04/2020
Member Non-executive V. Kakalis  08/04/2020

RISK COMMITTEE - ALPHA BANK ALBANIA Term expiry date 
Chairman Non-executive G. Adraktas  03/03/2020
Member Independent, Non-executive I. Parlitsis  03/03/2020
Member Executive I.Ciko  23/06/2020

  MANAGEMENT BOARD - ALPHA BANK ALBANIA Term expiry date
 Chairman CEO P. Drougkas   29/03/2017
 Member Economic Advisor O. Dhuci   29/03/2017
 Member Wholesale Banking Business Unit Manager N. Lamprakakis   19/12/2018
 Member Retail Banking Business Unit Manager B. Isaj   29/03/2017
 Member Operations and IT Business Unit Manager A. Burazeri   29/03/2017
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on the relevant issues. During the year 2016, 176 employees have 
been trained. 

• Answering to Authorities requests & execution orders. More 
specifically, the Compliance Department received, investigated 
and answered to 80,920 requests.
Alpha Bank Albania remains firmly committed to implementing 
uniform regulatory compliance policy and procedures, so as to 
achieve complete and ongoing compliance in an ever-changing 
regulatory environment.

Information Security 
Alpha Bank Albania has continued to maintain a very satisfactory 
Information Security Framework, performing securely its 
business operations, in an on-going developing information 
technology environment. During 2016 particularly the external 
risks were globally increased and the number and types of 
information security incidents \ data breaches, has reached 
new record levels. Alpha Bank Albania, supported closely by 
Alpha Bank Group, has effectively managed the protection of its 
infrastructure from all information security threats.

Alpha Bank Albania’ Country Information Security Officer (CISO), 
has continuously alerted and instructed all employees toward 
new risks. The awareness has been increased, and as a result of 
this, the number and type of suspicious events reported by Alpha 
Bank Albania employees were constantly increased and were 
carefully investigated and in the most of the cases additional 
measures were implemented in the security infrastructure. 
Demonstrating so to be aware of the Group Information Security 
Framework and its requirements, and perform their everyday 
duties in compliance with its policies and regulations by not 
lowering their security vigilance. The most important actions of 
the area during 2016 were as follows: 

• CISO, in close cooperation with the Group Information Security 
Officer (GISO), has continued the assessment and evaluation 
of new information systems recommending specific adequate 
information security measures to be followed in order to increase 
the overall security of Alpha Bank Albania infrastructure. 

• Were adequately evaluated and further implemented in 
cooperation with Information Security Division more than 120 
specific local Access Requests affecting Information Security 
Infrastructure, supporting the business needs. 

• The effectiveness of Symantec Endpoint Protection Antivirus 
system was carefully monitored. All necessary actions to ensure 
it proactive function were performed continuously by keeping an 
elevated security level. Specifically during 2016 were performed 
2 major version upgrade of the central system, on February 2016 
and on July 2016.

• Were reviewed all submitted new/amended local procedures/
policies and third parties contracts by recommending specific 
Information Security related topics. 

• During 2016, CISO in collaboration with Merchant Acquiring 
Section has accordingly fulfilled the PCI requirements based on 
PCI DSS standards achieving so the overall PCI compliance of 
Alpha Bank Albania as an American Express card issuer.  

• All employees, were periodically alerted toward several and 
specific risks, resulting in an overall increased awareness as 
proven from the suspicious events reported more than 145 cases 
(compared to 80 cases on 2015), which were carefully treated. 
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA
DETAILED ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
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Year 2016 was a very productive year for the retail 
segment at Alpha Bank Albania. In line with the strategy 
for increasing household and small business lending 
balances aiming at supporting daily cash needs, as well 
as medium and long term investments of its customers, 
retail segment managed to provide new loans to the 
amount of EUR 32 million, which enabled an increase 
in the total retail outstanding balance of 9.5% at the 
amount of EUR 106.86 million. In particular:

- Housing loan balances at the end of 2016 amounted 
at EUR 67.12 million increased by 3.4% compared to 
the end of previous year, retaining the market share of 
close to 8.7% and consisting of the lion’s share in Alpha 
Bank Albania retail portfolios

- Small business loans balance at the end of 2016    stood 
at EUR 17.36 million increased by 17.2% compared to 
end of previous year.

- Consumer lending balances at the end of 2016 
increased by 25.3% compared to the end of previous   
year, with a contribution of EUR 4.52 million net growth,   
pushing balances at EUR 22.38 million, thus reflecting 
a market share increase at 6.6%.

- By the end 2016 the retail deposits amounted at EUR 
422 million. The strategy implemented during the year   
for retail deposits was to maintain the deposit natural  
growth and to optimize interest expenses, as well as 
observe regulatory liquidity requirements.

During 2016 Alpha Bank Albania introduced to the 
market a series of innovative products and promotional 
campaigns, which were designed having in mind the 
customer and their explicit or implicit preferences, needs 
and wants. The Bank introduced twice during the year 
a promotional season for individual loans with start-
up costs covered by the Bank. The offer was very well 
received by the public, and it proved that the Bank is a 
trusted partner that is supporting its customers in the 
way they need to be supported. 

Cards business, another successful line of retail business, 
also featured different developments during 2016, of 
which the most important was improving the BONUS 
program, the loyalty program launched in 2015, which 
rewards all card members for each spending made with 
American Express Cards. Purchases with this particular 
branch increased by 110% on annual basis, making 
advantage of the successful cooperation with a selected 

Retail Banking Business Review 2016

list of merchants, representing the most successful 
businesses in retail clothing, electronics, health area and 
commodities. 

Additionally, the Bank was very active by launching 
regular promotional campaigns with existing cardholders 
and new potential members, customer acquisition 
campaigns, push spending campaigns, etc. 

By the end 2016, Alpha Bank Albania recorded more than 
8,500 credit cards and more than 77,000 debit cards in 
force. The market share for credit cards was increased to 
10% compared to 9.4% as end of December 2015. The 
business volumes were increased by 15% as a result of 
the continuous marketing efforts, increasing the business 
line profitability in terms of fees and commissions, as 
well as in terms of interest income.

In line with the designed action plan and strategies, 
Alpha Bank Albania launched and implemented more 
than 15 campaigns for business products, housing 
loans, consumer loans, credit cards, money transfer 
with MoneyGram, Bonus Program, as well as reached 
to maintain an ongoing coverage on customer care and 
information, via its digital channels and social media.
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During 2016 the Wholesale Banking Business activity 
of Alpha Bank Albania intensified its marketing efforts 
focusing on selectively attracting creditworthy local 
clients, increasing cooperation with existing customers 
and Greek related companies and on managing efficiently 
the existing portfolio.

This was achieved amidst unfavourable circumstances, 
in particular regulatory instructions for write-offs, 
decreasing loan market demand and severe interest rate 
drop (attributed to the negative Euribor rates, the drop 
of the Albanian Treasury Bills rate and competition and 
offers from local Banks) which affected profitability.

Despite the above, write offs of nonperforming loans 
which in the year amounted to Euro 7.4 million, the 
Wholesale Banking Business Unit managed to recover 
significant repayments of Euro 24 million and increase 
the performing loan portfolio.

As of December 2016, the balance of loans for medium-
sized enterprises and large corporations totalled to 
EUR 251 million, compared to EUR 254 million in 2015, 
continuing to maintain a significant market share in 
the Albanian market. (6.9% legal entity view or 11.8% 
country view).

The Bank’s primary objective is to pursue the effective 
management of its customers, in terms of income/
profitability ratio, as well as in terms of mitigating both 
credit and operational risk.

Alpha Bank Albania is committed to support the 
business growth of companies, including the effective 
management of the Environmental and Social dimension 
of each proposal. Hence, during 2016 the Bank adopted 
Environmental and Social Risk Management Policy, 
providing standart guidelines, conditions, credit rules 
and tools for the implementation of risks potentially 
connected with damage to the environment and to the 
society. 

The Environmental and Social Risk Management Policy is 
implemented in the wholesale banking lending process 
and is commensurate with Internationally  regulatory 
guidelines, such as Greek and European legislation 

Wholesale Business Banking
Review 2016

including international best practices. The policy covers 
all Wholesale Banking Units of the Group and requires 
that the Wholesale Banking obligors/projects under the 
management of the Wholesale Banking Business Units 
and the Wholesale Banking Credit Workout Centre are 
evaluated, assessed and reviewed against the possible 
Environment and Social risks in each stage of the Group’s 
corporate credit procedure.
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I. Operating expenses – cost saving and/or containment. 

The actual expenses for items related to Property and IT for 
2016 were lower than budget (1% lower in relative terms) 
and almost flat y-o-y (0.1% lower than 2015):
 
a) Property Management & Procurement (PMPD):
 
i. The actual OPEX 2016 of €3,257,581 posted a reduction 
of € 24,319 against the budget 2016, or 1% lower in relative 
terms. 

Operations & IT Business Activities 

ii. Actual OPEX 2016 of €3,257,581 versus the actual OPEX 
2015 of € 3,409,528 posted a reduction of €151,947 or 5% 
lower in relative terms. 

b) Information Technology (IT): 

i. The actual OPEX 2016 was almost flat compared with 
both budget 2016 and actual expenses 2015 with the 
exceptions of minor deviations in inflexible items such as 
centralized outsourced services.

The main pillars:

Cost optimization 2013 2014 2015 2016

Total OPEX (IT & property related) 5.361.628 4.837.466 4.866.893 4.810.603
Total ABA employees 395 402 425 415
Annual cost in € (per headcount) 13.574 12.034 11.452 11.591
Cost optimization in € (per headcount) (1,540) (582) 139
Cost optimization in % -11.3% -4.8% 1.2%

5.361.628

13.574

395

2013 2014 2015 2016

402 425 415

12.034 11.452 11.591

4.837.466 4.866.893 4.810.603 Shpenzime totale
operacionale
(TI& Pasuria)

Kosto vjetore në
euro (Për punonjës)

Punonjës total në
Bankës

Chart 1: Cost optimization per headcount for the period 2013-2016 (amounts in €)

Total OPEX (IT & 
property related)

Annual cost in € (per 
headcount)

Total ABA employees

Cost optimization (IT & property related)

The cost optimization project success would be better comprehended from cost per headcount standpoint. The annual 
cost per headcount is calculated as the total property and IT operating expenses versus the total headcount.
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Cost reduction projects and contracts renegotiation

The operating expenses – cost saving and monitoring 
process was supported by several cost reduction projects and 
contracts renegotiation which took place with the following 
outcomes:

- Telecommunication: 
• Data Lines: In 2016 less € 74,804.49 annualized - cost 
optimization 70%;

• Mobile Telephony expenses: In 2016 less € 17,551
annualized - cost optimization 28%;

- Security Services -
  Guarding and Immediate Response Services: in 2016 less 
€77,591.94 annualized - cost optimization 28%;

- Cash transportation services expenses: 
In 2016 less € 26,949.64 annualized - cost optimization 17%; 

- Cleaning Services: 
In 2016 less €34,613 annualized - cost optimization 20%;

- Insurance: 
BBB/ECC/D&O Contract - In 2016 less €3,659 annualized -  
cost optimization 8%. 

- Managing Printing System Solution extended to 
branches’ operations and negotiated prices with Supplier for    
HO & branches; the reduction impact calculated from 
branches inclusion is 29% (in amount €19,062 annualized);

- Outsourcing of central archive and expired physical 
documentation destruction;

- Introduction of operational leasing for pool/personal cars;

The capital expenses – cost saving and monitoring process 
was supported by several cost reduction projects which took 
place with the following outcomes:

- CAPEX Pjeter Budi branch: In 2016 less €4,761 annualized   
-  cost optimization 32%;

- CAPEX Zogu Zi branch: In 2016 less € 5,237 annualized -    
cost optimization 26%;

- CAPEX Berati branch: In 2016 less €20,689.66 annualized - 
cost optimization 17%;

- Cash Counting Machines (Boa Regulation): In 2016 less 
€9,482.34 annualized - cost optimization 19%;

II. Operational excellence. 
The operational centralization and process streamlining 
was supported by the enhancement and the creation of 
new workflows in JIRA application. This platform allows the 
creation of dedicated workflows that support operations 
performed outside existing systems (e.g. via email, or 
physically handled). In 2016, several existing workflows were 
modified/enhanced and three new workflows were created 
and implemented: 

a) Cost Controlling and Invoice Settlement; 

b) Procurement; 

c) CEO Office Correspondence. 

III. Improved and enhanced IT services. 
With reference to improved and enhanced IT services, the 
following projects have been implemented: 

a) “Upgrading Active Directory from Microsoft Windows 
Server 2003 Platform into Microsoft Windows Server 2012”; 

b) “Centralized printing/scanning solution for Branches” 

c) “Reuters Migration”; 

d) “SEP Upgrade”; 

e)“Digitalb project” 

f) “Sales  Management Tools” ; 

g) “HP OML  Centralized Log Monitoring system” 

h) “Re-Design of existing Internet Site”; 

i) “Active Directory Federation service“ ; 

j) “Enhanced Flex cube  Liquidation Order for Loan Ac counts”,

k) Swift Standards 2016 &  Enhancement SIRON”; 

l) “Probability of default calculation”; 

m) “IFRS 9 - Modeling Asset Class for Retail”; 

n) “IFRS 9 - Modeling Asset Class for wholesale”; 

o) “DataMart Project for credit Risk”.
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The Bank is oriented in developing employee’ skills, 
supporting work in democratic styles of leadership aiming 
to involve employees and increase the commitment toward 
sustainable institutional development and successful 
performance in the market.

During 2016, the Bank has offered a wide range of training 
opportunities to employees of various position and 
qualification level, using a combination of trainings offered 
by internal management and external trainers to support 
employees in their career development.

Training days 

1 271 5 335 381

Training hours 

Number of 
employees 

attending the 
trainings

Human Resources

381 participants attended 5’335 training hours, delivered 
in 62 training programmes, seminars or conferences 
organized at Group level, as well as inside andoutside the 
Bank.

As of 31.12.2016, the Bank had 415 employees, 
representing a decrease of 2% compared to the same 
period of the previous year. Alpha Bank Albania employees 
consist of 63% female and 37% male. 215 employees work 
in branches, while 200 in Head Office.

During 2016, the HR focus has been employees’ carrier 
path and the regulatory environment.
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Alpha Bank Albania Branch Network 

FemaleMale

Men

Women

63%
37%

200 EMPLOYEES
IN BRANCHES NETWORK

215 EMPLOYEES
IN BRANCHES NETWORK

415 
EMPLOYEES

IN TOTAL

The cities where Alpha Bank Albania operates:

Tiranë, Fushë Krujë, Durrës, Fier, Lushnjë, Vlorë, Himarë, Sarandë, Shkodër, Elbasan, Librazhd, Korçë, Bilisht, 
Pogradec, Gjirokastër, Përmet, Tepelenë, Berat, Ura Vajgurore, Lezhë, Laç, Peshkopi, Burrel

REGION 1 REGION 2 REGION 3

Lushnjë Branch Durrës Branch Pjetër Budi Branch 

Saranda Branch Shtraus Branch Zogu i Zi Branch 

Gjirokastër Branch Blvd. Bajram Curri Branch  Stadiumi Dinamo Branch 

Berati Branch Blloku i Ambasadave Branch  Unaza e Re Branch 

Vlora Branch Tirana Branch  Kombinati Branch 

Fieri Branch Korça Branch  Shkodër Branch

Vlora Kristo Negovani Branch Elbasan Branch Lezha Branch

Tepelena Branch Pogradec Branch Peshkopia Branch

Përmeti Branch Librazhd Branch Burreli Branch

Ura Vajgurore Branch Bilisht Branch Laçi Branch

Himara Branch Rinia Branch Fushë Kruja Branch

Kamza Branch 

Sami Frashëri Branch   
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Marketing Campaigns Summary 

Programi i Shpërblimit Alpha Bank Bonus

Jepini vetes një BONUS për festa!
Përdorni kartat tuaja American Express® 

dhe përfitoni rimbursim

10 të vlerës
për çdo blerje

Kjo ofertë është e vlefshme nga data 26 nëntor deri më 29 nëntor 2016. 
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HEALTH 

The Berat Hospital
The bank purchased different appliance for the pediatric 
hospital of Berat such as incubator, neonatal monitor, 
aerosol, aspirator etc.

The Librazhd Hospital
The surgery room was renovated by placing a new ceiling 
lamp which was crucial for the surgeries. It was doanted as 
well a monitoring device and an aspirator for the patients 
during the surgery.

The Permet Hospital
Alpha Bank Albania supported the Permet Hospital, 
by purchasing and donating a electrocardiograph to 
the hospital, a noninvasive technology measuring total 
electrical conductivity of the thorax and its changes in 
time to process continuously a number of cardiodynamic 
parameters.

The Laç Hospital
A total reconstruction was made to the hospital which 
serves to 40.000 patients of the community.

SOCIAL

“Christmas are about love and family”
On December 15, 2016 Alpha Bank Albania donated 250 
Christmas bags which contained basic food packages in all 
the cities the Bank operates. An event took place at one 
of the social centres in Tirana where 50 packages were 
distributed with the presence of the Mayor of Tirana. 

“Supporting the children in need”
The bank purchased 100 books “The art of communication”, 
the money of which went to help the children in need and 
their families.

“The road to success”
Bank’ employees took part in the “The road to success” 
event. The event aimed in boosting employees’ interpersonal 
capabilities, in terms of skills and experiences. All the 
income of this event was donated in charity.

CULTURAL

Alpha Bank Albania – General Sponsor of the 4th 
Guitar Festival in Tirana
During October 14th – 17th, 2016, The Guitar Foundation Albania, 
supported by Alpha Bank Albania, organised the 4th edition of 
the Guitar Festival in Tirana. Well-known artists from abroad were 
present during the 4 days of the festival and special awards were 
given to the performers.

EDUCATIONAL

The Enterpreneurs of tomorrow
On May 4, 2016 at the Tirana International Airport took 
place the competition ‘’ the Enterpreneurs of tomorrow’’, 
which is organised by Junior Achievement Albania in 
collaboration with the Ministry of Education. Alpha Bank 
Albania was one of the main sponsors. 

The entire competition is designed to engage students in 
a long term project such as creating their own innovative 
business advertise it and ultimately sell their own products. 
23 companies were created from 138 college students 
which brought very interested ideas. The winner team 
of this competition created a parking application which 
allows car owners to get notifications when parking lots 
are available near them.

Leader for a Day
On March 23rd, 2016, Alpha Bank Albania joined the 
important event organised by Junior Achievement Albania: 
Leader for a Day 2016! 46 excellent senior high school 
students & JA achievers from schools around the country 
shadowed 46 high profile leaders of the business world and 
diplomatic arena. 

The selected participants were engaged on different work 
processes of a leader and became aware of the expectations 
and commitments of being leaders and decision makers. 
For Alpha Bank Albania the student was appointed for the 
entire day at Mr. Sokol Dishnica the Manager of the Small 
Business Banking Department Manager. 

After the one day experience, the students gave a small 
speech for their supporters in an event organized with the 
presence of the government and the Mayor of Tirana. 

Corporate Social Responsibility 
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“If I was a Banker” competition 
In the framework of the Money Week, celebrated 
worldwide as the European and Global Money Week, 
Albanian Association of Banks in cooperation with Bank 
of Albania, the Ministry of Education and Sports, and the 
Ministry of Social Welfare and Youth organized educational 
and awareness-raising activities for children and youth.

Alpha Bank Albania sponsored the competition “If I was a 
banker”, which took place at the University of Integrated 
Studies (FASTIP) in Durres, were students presented 
innovative banking services packages created for potential 
businesses (the jury). To the winning team of 5 was opened 
a student account with a 100 Euro gift from the Bank, in 
order for them to engage in banking transactions.

ENVIRONMENTAL
In the framework of Alpha Bank Group Volunteer Day, Alpha 
Bank Albania organised for the eighth consecutive year, 
on May 22nd and June 5th, 2016, two different activities 
with the participation of 210 employees of the bank; the 
cleaning of the Cape of Rodon beach and the planting of 
trees in Lura. 

Cape of Rodon
Situated in, north of Durrës, by the Adriatic Sea, the Cape 
of Rodon is well known for its several bays with partially 
intact nature. As the beach season is starting, more than 
100 employees from Alpha Bank Albania, divided in small 
groups, were involved in cleaning several bays from plastic 
bottles and other refuses. The motto for this activity was 
“Together for a cleaner environment” 

Lura National Park
Lura National Park, located in the municipality of Dibër in 
northeastern Albania, encompasses 1’280 hectares and 
is renowned for its 12 lakes and wildlife. Due to massive 
deforestation from illegal logging and forest fires that 
severely affected ecosystems, 100 Alpha Bank employees 
were involved in planting 3’100 black pines, in attempting 
to restore the natural flora and fauna of the area. The motto 
for the activity was “Together for Lura”
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In the framework of improving the cooperation with its 
business partners, during September and October 2016, 
Alpha Bank Albania organised a round of meetings in the 
main cities of Tirana, Korçë, Elbasan, Fier, Durrës, Vlorë, 
Gjirokastër, Berat and Shkodër. During these meetings, 
the participants were introduced to the Bank’ mission, 
which aims to be a reliable partner for every client, 
thus creating a relationship based on trust, respect and 
sincerity: a relationship which evolves in a strong long-
term bond. 

Furthermore, the participants were shown Alpha Bank 
Albania’ financial data, which show a sound Bank, well-

Event of the Year

capitalized and with ample liquidity, which contributed 
and continues to contribute not only in the banking 
system stability, but as well in the development of 
the Albanian economy, by fulfilling businesses and 
individuals financial needs with different banking and 
financing products and services.

During the meetings, different bank’ clients expressed 
their ideas and suggestions, aiming at further improving 
the successful cooperation relationship between the 
clients and the Bank.
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Independent Auditors' Report 

To the Shareholder of Alpha Bank Albania SHA 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Alpha Bank Albania SHA ("the 
Bank"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2016, the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes 
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion , the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 2016, and of its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance with International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(IESBA Code) and with Institute of Authorized Chartered Auditors of Albania 
Code of Ethics (IEKA Code), together with the ethical requirements of the Law 
No. 10091 , dated 5 March 2009 "On the statutory audit and the organization of 
the statutory auditors and chartered accountants professions", amended, that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Albania, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 
and the IESBA Code and IEKA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion . 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report prepared by 
management in accordance with Article 53 of the Law. No. 9662, dated 18 
December 2006 "On banks in the Republic of Albania", amended , but does not 
include the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The annual 
report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors' 
report. 

KPMG Albania Shpk, an Albanian limited liability company and a member Registered in the National 
firm of the KPMG network of Independent member firms affiliated with KPMG Registration Center with VAT Number 
International Cooperative ("KPMG lntemationa11. a Swiss entity. J916190010 
Document classification: KPMG Confidential 



Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein , we are required to communicate the matter to those 
charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank's 
financial reporting process. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 



- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's 
internal control. 

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding , among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

KPMG Albania Shpk 
"Deshmoret e Kombit" Blvd. 
Twin Towers Building I, floor 13 
Tirana, Albania 

Tirana, 31 March 2017 
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December   
 (Amounts in LEK’000) 
 
 Notes 2016  2015 

     
Interest income 6  2,798,610   3,271,874 
Interest expense 6  (496,911)  (683,999) 
Net interest income   2,301,699   2,587,875 
     
Fee and commission income 7  298,502   262,313 
Fee and commission expense 7  (54,267)  (68,694) 
Net fee and commission income   244,235   193,619 
       
Gains less losses on financial transactions 8  (75,742)  (1,473,812) 
Other operating income   78,191   11,749 
Total income   2,548,383   1,319,431 
     
Personnel expenses 9  (725,577)  (717,680) 
Depreciation and amortization 17, 18  (105,532)  (124,693) 
Operating expenses 10  (1,224,633)  (1,161,765) 
Total operating expenses  (2,055,742)   (2,004,138) 
     
Net impairment loss on loans to customers 16  (1,876,187)  (964,380) 
Loss before income tax  (1,383,546)  (1,649,087) 
Income tax  11  (13,536)  661 
Loss for the year   (1,397,082)  (1,648,426) 
     
Other comprehensive income/(loss):     
Items that may be reclassified to profit or 
loss      
Revaluation of AFS financial assets 15 231,703   (483,368) 
Reclasified from equity to profit or loss 15 -   1,444,507 
Income tax  11 (34,755)  (144,171) 
Revaluation of AFS financial assets, net of tax  196,948   816,968 
 
Other comprehensive income for the year  196,948   816,968 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (1,200,134)  (831,458) 

 
The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to 
and forming part of the financial statements set out on pages 5 to 64. 
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 

Statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 
(Amounts in LEK'OOO) 

Assets 

Cash and balances with Central Bank 

Loans and advances to financial institutions 

Available-for-sale ( AFS ')financial assets 

Held-to-maturity ('HTM') financial assets 

Loans and advances to customers 

Property and equipment 

intangible assets 

Prepaid income tax 
Other assets 

Reposessed assets 
Total assets 

Liabilities 

Due to banks 

Due to customers 

Subordinated debt 
Defferred tax liability 

Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

Equity 

Share capital 
Legal reserve 

Other reserves 

Accumulated losses 

Total equity 

Total liabilities and shareholder's equity 

Notes 

12 

13 

lS 

14 

16 

17 

18 

19 

19 

20 

21 

22 
11 

23 

24 
25 

24 

2016 2015 

12,144,384 9,S20,220 
8,802,474 8,623,717 

17,322,9S7 1 S,363,4S8 
863,340 l ,3S9,987 

32,S63,71 l 32,848,922 

637,013 749,690 

22,S06 18,4SS 

236, 124 204,264 
806,3Sl 202,719 

40S ,059 339,684 
73,803,919 69,231,116 

1,984,101 6,016 

S8,837,612 SS 124,193 

2,166,923 2,200, 164 
46,0S2 10,636 

462,628 383,370 
63,497,316 57,724,379 

10,960, 120 10,960,120 
817,483 817,483 

17,770 (179, 178) 

(1,488,770) (91,688) 

10,306,603 11,506,737 

73,803,919 69,231,116 

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and fanning part of th e 
financial statements set out on pages S to 64. 

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors of Alpha Bank Albania SH.A on 
31 M fcli'20 17 signed on its behalf by: 

Chief Executive Officer 
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
 
Statement of changes in equity  
for the year ended 31 December 
(Amounts in LEK’000) 
  

  Share  Legal  Other  Retained earnings/   Total 
 Notes Capital   Reserves   Reserves   (Accumulated Losses)     
           

Balance at 1 January 2015  10,960,120  817,483  (996,146)  159,327  10,940,784 
           
Loss for the year  -  -  -  (1,648,426)  (1,648,426) 
Net change in fair value of AFS financial assets (note 24)  -  -  816,968  -  816,968 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  -  -  816,968  (1,648,426)  (831,458) 
           
Sale of securities above fair value 15 -  -  -  1,397,411  1,397,411 
Balance at 31 December 2015  10,960,120  817,483  (179,178)  (91,688)  11,506,737 
           
Loss for the year  -  -  -  (1,397,082)  (1,397,082) 
Net change in fair value of AFS financial assets (note 24)  -  -  196,948  -  196,948 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  -  -  196,948  (1,397,082)  (1,200,134) 
           
Balance at 31 December 2016  10,960,120  817,483  17,770  (1,488,770)  10,306,603 

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial statements set out on pages 5 to 64.
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
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Statement of cash flows  
for the year ended 31 December 
 (Amounts in LEK’000) 

 

 Notes 2016  2015 

Cash flows from operating activities:     
Loss before taxes  (1,383,546)  (1,649,087) 

Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortization 17,18 105,532  124,693 

Gain on sale of property and equipment  (2,036)  (304) 

Property and equipment written off 17 67,001  12,879 

Impairment losses 16 1,891,780  964,380 

Loss from sale of available for sale securities 15 -  47,096 

Interest income 6 (2,798,610)  (3,271,874) 

Interest expense 6 496,911  683,999 

  (1,622,968)  (3,088,218) 

Compulsory reserve 12 (410,244)  1,158,965 

Loans and advances to customers  (2,356,924)  (1,734,852) 

Other assets 19 (713,742)  208,347 

Due to banks 20 1,978,085  (60,285) 

Due to customers 21 3,788,255  (9,808,283) 

Other liabilities 23 46,458  (230,733) 

Interest paid  (572,188)  (929,746) 

Interest received  3,548,965  3,485,764 

Net cash flows from/ (used in) operating 

activities before income tax  3,685,697  (10,999,041) 

Income taxes paid  -  (59,588) 

Net cash flows from/ (used in) operating 

activities  3,685,697  (11,058,629) 

     
Cash flows from investing activities:     
Purchase of property, equipment and intangibles  17,18 (64,271)  (37,573) 

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  2,400  2,297 

Proceeds from sales of investment securities   3,065,949   21,797,600   

Purchases of investment securities   (4,297,098)  (3,406,637) 

Net cash flows (used in)/ from investing 

activities  (1,293,020)  18,355,687 

     

Sale of securities above fair value 15 -  1,397,411 

Net cash flows from financing activities  -  1,397,411 

     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  2,392,677  8,694,469 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  13,062,747  4,368,278 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 26 15,455,424  13,062,747 

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to and forming part of the financial 

statements set out on pages 5 to 64. 



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
1. General 
Alpha Bank A.E. – Tirana Branch was established in 1998 as a branch of Alpha Bank A.E., Athens (“Head 
Office”), which is the ultimate parent of the Alpha Bank Group of companies. As of 19 December 2006 the 
Head Office’s Board of Directors approved a change in the name of the Bank to Alpha Bank – Albania (“the 
Bank”). The Bank’s registered offices are located at Rruga e Kavajes, Business Center G – Kam, 2nd floor, 
Tirana, Albania.  
On 29 February 2012 the Bank was transformed to a subsidiary based on the Decision no. 14 of the Supervisory 
Council of Bank of Albania (hereinafter refered to as “Central Bank”) and was licensed on 17 May 2012 for 
rendering payment transfers, credit and deposit activities, and other activities according to the Banking Law 
(No. 8365 dated 2 July 1998, amended on 18 December 2006) and the Law on the Bank of Albania (No. 8269 
dated 23 December 1997) and changed the name to Alpha Bank Albania SHA.  
The Bank has 35 branch offices throughout the country (2015: 40 branch offices), with 11 branches being in 
Tirana (2015: 11 branches).  
2. Basis of preparation 
(a) Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
(b) Basis of preparation  
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following assets which 
were measured at fair value: 
• Available-for-sale financial assets 
(c) Functional and presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented in Lek, which is the Bank’s functional currency and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand (Lek’000), except when otherwise indicated. 
(d) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are 
described in the following paragraphs. 
In the process of applying the Bank's accounting policies, management has exercised judgment and estimates 
in determining the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The most significant uses of judgment and 
estimates are as follows: 
i. Going concern 
The Bank has reported accumulated losses of Lek 1,488,770 thousand (2015: Lek 91,688 thousand) at 31 
December 2016. Management took also into consideration the adverse economic environment in Greece, 
where the parent bank operates. The Bank’s exposure with the Alpha Bank Group is non-significant and the 
management is satisfied that the Bank has the resources to continue its business for the foreseeable future.  
Furthermore, management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the 
Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements were prepared on the going 
concern basis. 
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
(d)  Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
ii.  Fair value of financial instruments 
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statement of financial position 
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include  
the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where 
possible, but if this is not available, judgement is required to establish fair values. The judgements include 
considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as volatility for longer–dated derivatives and discount rates, 
prepayment rates and default rate assumptions for asset-backed securities.  
The Bank's accounting policy on fair value measurement is described in significant accounting policies 3.(e).  
The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements: 
- Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument. 
- Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. 

derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active 
markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or 
indirectly observable from market data. 

- Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument's valuation. This category includes 
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable 
adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments. 

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison to similar 
instruments for which market observable prices exist and based on a current yield curve appropriate for the 
remaining term to maturity. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and 
benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premiums used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity 
prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price volatilities and 
correlations. The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the 
price of the financial instrument at the reporting date, which would have been determined by market 
participants acting at arm's length. 
Observable prices and model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, 
exchange traded derivatives and simple over the counter derivatives like interest rate swaps. Availability of 
observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgment and estimation and 
also reduces the uncertainty associated with determination of fair values. Availability of observable market 
prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific 
events and general conditions in the financial markets. 
The fair value of financial instruments is disclosed in note 5.  
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
(d)  Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
iii.  Impairment losses on loans and advances 
The Bank reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in the profit or loss. In particular, management judgment is required in 
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment loss. These 
estimates are based on assumptions about a number of assumptions and actual results may differ, resulting in 
future changes to the allowance. 
The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio (such as levels of arrears, credit 
utilisation, loan to collateral ratios, etc.), and judgments to the effect of concentrations of risks and economic 
data (including levels of unemployment, real estate prices indices, country risk and the performance of 
different individual groups). 
If in a subsequent period after the recognition of the impairment loss, events occur which require the 
impairment loss to be reduced, or there has been a collection of amounts from loans and advances previously 
written-off, the recoveries are recognized in profit and loss in impairment losses and provisions to cover credit 
risk. The impairment loss on loans and advances is disclosed in more detail in Note 16. 
iv. Impairment of available–for–sale investments 
The Bank reviews its debt securities classified as available–for–sale investments at each reporting date to 
assess whether they are impaired. This requires similar judgment as applied to the individual assessment of 
loans and advances. 
The Bank determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. 
This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Bank 
evaluates, among other factors, duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its 
cost. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health 
of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash 
flows. 
v. Deferred tax assets 
Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of certain temporary differences and tax losses to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized or temporary 
differences reversed.  
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies  
(a) Foreign currency transactions 
In preparing the financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Bank's functional currency are 
recognized at the spot rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the operation at the 
spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at that 
date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the 
functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the 
period, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the end of the period. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 
(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 
(i) Date of recognition 
All financial assets and liabilities are initially recognized at the date that the Bank becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
(ii) Initial measurement of financial instruments 
The Bank initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities 
on the date at which they are originated. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized 
on the trade date at which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. All other financial assets and 
liabilities (including assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are initially recognized 
on the trade date at which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognized immediately in profit or loss.  
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) 
(iii) Classification of financial assets  
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:  

• Loans and receivables 
• Held-to-maturity investments 
• Available-for-sale investments 
• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of 
initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on 
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.   
(iv) Classification of financial liability and equity 
Classification as debt or equity 
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Bank are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of the financial liability and 
equity instruments.  
Equity instruments 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Bank after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Bank are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs. 
(v) Loans and advances to customers and to Banks 
Loans and advances to customers and to Banks include non–derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, and that the Bank does not intend to sell 
immediately or in the near term other than: 
• Those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the near term and those that the Bank upon initial 

recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; 
• Those that the Bank, upon initial recognition, designates as Available-for-sale. 
When the Bank is the lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee, the arrangement is presented within loans and advances.  
When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to resell the asset (or 
a substantially similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date (“reverse repo or stock borrowing”), the 
arrangement is accounted for as reverse repo transactions (pledged securities), and the underlying asset is not 
recognized in the Bank’s financial statements.  
(vi) Investment securities 
Investment securities are accounted for depending on their classification, as either held-to-maturity, fair value 
through profit or loss, or available-for-sale. 
(1) Held-to-maturity Financial Assets 
Held-to-maturity investment securities are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, and which are not designated 
at fair value through profit or loss or as available-for-sale.  
Held-to-maturity investment securities are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. A sale 
or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments would result in the 
reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as Available-for-sale, and would prevent the Bank from 
classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the following two financial years.  
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) 
(1) Held-to-maturity Financial Assets (continued) 
However, sales and reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not trigger a reclassification: 
• sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that changes in the market rate of interest would not 

have a significant effect on the financial asset’s fair value; 
• sales or reclassifications after the Bank has collected substantially all of the asset’s original principal; or 
• sales or reclassifications attributable to non-recurring isolated events beyond the Bank’s control that could 

not have been reasonably anticipated. 
(2) Available-for-sale Financial Assets 
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are not designated as another category of 
financial assets. Unquoted equity securities whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost. 
All other available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value. 
Interest income is recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Foreign exchange gains or 
losses on available-for-sale debt security investments are recognized in profit or loss. Other fair value changes 
are recognized directly in other comprehensive income until the investment is sold or impaired and the 
cumulated gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. 
(3) Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss include trading securities and other securities that the Bank 
decides, at their initial recognition, to measure them at fair value through profit or loss. Trading securities are 
those securities that the Bank acquires principally for the purpose of selling in the near term. Trading securities 
are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value with transaction costs taken directly to profit 
or loss. All changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Trading assets and liabilities are not 
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except that non-derivative trading assets, other than those 
designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition, may be reclassified out of the fair value 
through profit or loss category if they are no longer held for the purpose of being sold or repurchased in the 
near term and the following conditions are met: 
• If the financial asset would have met the definition of loans and receivables, then it may be reclassified if 

the Bank has the intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity. 
• If the financial asset would not have met the definition of loans and receivables, then it may be reclassified 

out of the trading category only in ‘rare circumstances’. 
(vii) Other financial liabilities 
Subordinated debt 
Financial instruments issued by the Bank, that are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are 
classified as liabilities under ‘Subordinated Debt’, where the substance of the contractual arrangement results 
in the Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the 
obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number 
of own equity shares. 
After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate (‘EIR’) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. 
An analysis of the Bank’s issued debt is disclosed in Note 22. 
 
  

10 
 
 



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(b) Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) 

(vii)  Other financial liabilities (continued) 
Deposits from customers 
Deposits and other financial liabilities are part of the Bank’s sources of debt funding.  
When the Bank sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into an agreement to repurchase the asset (or 
a similar asset) at a fixed price on a future date (“REPO”), the arrangement is accounted for as a deposit, and 
the underlying asset continues to be recognised in the Bank’s financial statements. 
The Bank classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.  
Deposits and other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
(c) Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(i) Financial assets 
The Bank derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Bank is 
recognized as a separate asset or liability. 
The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized on its statement of financial position, 
but retains either all risks or rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all 
risks and rewards are retained, then the transferred assets are not derecognized from the statement of financial 
position. Transfers of assets with retention of all or substantially all risks and rewards include, for example, 
securities lending and repurchase transactions. 
When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total rate of return swap on the transferred assets, the 
transaction is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar to repurchase transactions. In 
transactions where the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a financial asset, it derecognizes the asset if control over the asset is lost. The rights and obligations retained 
in the transfer are recognized separately as assets and liabilities as appropriate. In transfers where control over 
the asset is retained, the Bank continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, 
determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset. 
In certain transactions the Bank retains rights to service a transferred financial asset for a fee. The transferred 
asset is derecognized in its entirety if it meets the derecognition criteria.  
(ii) Financial Liabilities 
The Bank derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank's obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized 
and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.  
An asset or liability is recognized for the servicing rights, depending on whether the servicing fee is more than 
adequate to cover servicing expenses (asset) or is less than adequate for performing the servicing (liability). 
(d) Determination of fair value 
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most 
advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-
performance risk.   
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(d)  Determination of fair value (continued) 
When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market 
for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with 
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. If there is no quoted price 
in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation techniques that maximise the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the 
factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.  
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction 
price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Bank determines that the fair value at 
initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price 
in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data 
from observable markets, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the 
difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference 
is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the 
valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.  
If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Bank measures assets 
and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.  
The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on demand, discounted from the first 
date on which the amount could be required to be paid.  
The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period 
during which the change has occurred.  
(f) Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets, other than cash and cash equivalents, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of 
each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as 
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 
future cash flows of the investment have been affected. 
The Bank considers evidence of impairment at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually 
significant financial assets are assessed for specific impairment. Assets that are not individually significant 
are then collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together financial assets (carried at amortized cost) 
with similar risk characteristics. 
Objective evidence that the financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a borrower, 
restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not otherwise consider, 
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, 
or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of 
borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group. 
In assessing collective impairment the Bank uses statistical modeling of historical trends of the probability of 
default, timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as to 
whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less 
than suggested by historical modeling. Default rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries 
are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate. 
(i) Financial Assets at amortized cost 
Impairment losses on assets carried at amortized cost are measured as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial assets and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the assets’ original 
effective interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against 
loans and advances. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the 
discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the impairment loss is 
reversed through profit or loss. 
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(f) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 
(ii) Available –for-sale financial investments 
For available–for–sale financial investments, the Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
objective evidence that an investment is impaired. 
Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognized by transferring the cumulative 
loss that has been recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 
The cumulative loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss is the difference 
between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortization, and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss previously recognized in profit or loss. Changes in impairment provisions attributable to 
time value are reflected as a component of interest income. 
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or 
loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the amount of the reversal recognized in profit or loss. However, 
any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognized in 
other comprehensive income. 
(iii) Restructured loans 
Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may 
involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Management 
continually reviews restructured loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to 
occur. In case of individual assessment, mainly the wholesale portfolio, the loans are calculated using the 
loan’s original contractual/nominal interest rate, while for the retail portfolio impairment is calculated through 
the collective assessment procedure. 
(g) Offsetting financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted by the accounting standards, or for 
gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity. 
(h) Financial instruments amortized cost measurement 
The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is 
measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using 
the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount recognized and the maturity amount, 
minus any reduction for impairment. 
(i) Lease 
The Bank is a leasee in both operating and finance leases. 
i. Operating leases 
Leases which do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the 
leased items are operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the profit or loss 
on a straight line basis over the lease term. Contingent rental payable are recognized as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  
ii. Finance leases  
For finance leases, the leased asset is recognized as property and equipment and a respective liability is 
recognized in other liabilities. Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between 
the finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability.   
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(i)  Lease (continued) 
ii. Finance leases (continued) 
The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising 
the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed. 
(j) Recognition of income and expenses 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue 
is recognized. 
(i) Interest income and expense 
Interest income and expense are recognized in the profit or loss using the effective interest method. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying 
amount of the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is established on initial recognition of the 
financial asset and liability. 
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees and points paid or received, transaction costs, 
and discounts or premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs are 
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or 
liability. Interest income and expense presented in profit or loss include interest on financial assets and 
liabilities at amortized cost on an effective interest rate basis. 
The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Bank revises its estimates of 
payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original EIR and the change in 
carrying amount is recorded as ’Other operating income’.  
Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an 
impairment loss, interest income continues to be recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the 
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 
Interest income and expense presented in profit or loss include: 
• interest on financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost calculated on an effective interest basis 
• interest on all trading assets and liabilities 
• interest income on AFS debt instruments 
Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities are considered to be incidental to the Bank’s 
trading operations and are presented in net interest income or expense. 
(ii) Fee and commission income and expense 
Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset 
or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. 
The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. 
Fee income can be divided into the following two categories: 
Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time  
Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include 
commission income and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees. 
Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred 
(together with any incremental costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the EIR on the loan. When it is 
unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are recognised over the commitment period 
on a straight line basis. 
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ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(j) Recognition of income and expenses (continued) 
(ii) Fee and commission income and expense (continued) 
Fee income from providing transaction services  
Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as 
account servicing fees, sales commission, placement fees, or the arrangement of the acquisition of other 
securities, are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees that are 
linked to a certain performance are recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria. Other fees and 
commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services are 
received. 
(k) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with the Central Bank 
and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of its short-term 
commitments. 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. 
(l) Investments securities 
Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs and 
subsequently accounted for depending on their classification as either held-to-maturity, fair value through 
profit or loss, or available-for-sale. 
(m) Intangible assets 
Software acquired by the Bank is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. 
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
software, from the date that it is available for use. The estimated useful life of software is four years. 
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate 
(n) Property and equipment 
(i) Recognition and measurement 
Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to 
bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing 
the items and restoring the site on which they are located. When parts of an item of property or equipment 
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 
equipment. The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item of property and equipment, and are recognised 
net within other income in profit or loss. 
(ii) Subsequent costs 
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property or equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its 
cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-
to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(n) Property and equipment (continued) 
(iii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part 
of an item of property and equipment.  
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 
• Furniture and other equipment 5 years 
• Vehicles    5 years 
• Computers    4 years 
• Leasehold improvements  the shorter of useful life and lease term 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate. 
(o) Reposessed assets 
Repossessed properties comprise non-financial repossessed assets acquired through enforcement of security 
over non-performing loans and advances to customers that do not earn rental, and are not used by the Bank 
and are intended for disposal in a reasonably short period of time, without significant restructuring.  
Reposessed assets are initially recognised and subsequently remeasured at the lower of their carrying amount 
and net realizable value. Any loss arising from the above measurement is recorded in profit or loss and can be 
reversed in the future. Assets in this category are not depreciated. Gains or losses from the sale of these assets 
are recognized in the profit or loss. 
(p) Impairment of non–financial assets 
The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows 
that largely are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. 
Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the 
loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.  
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(p)  Impairment of non–financial assets (continued) 
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Bank estimates 
the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. 
(q) Financial guarantees 
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of 
a debt instrument. 
Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value, and the initial fair value is amortized 
over the life of the financial guarantee. The guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this 
amortized amount and the present value of any expected payment (when a payment under the guarantee has 
become probable). Financial guarantees are included within other liabilities. 
(r) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are determined 
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The expense relating to any 
provision is presented in the profit or loss net of any reimbursement. 
(s) Employee benefits 
(i) Compulsory social security contributions  
The Bank makes only compulsory social security contributions that provide benefits for employees upon 
retirement. The social insurance authorities are responsible for providing the legally set minimum threshold 
for pensions in Albania under a defined contribution pension plan. The Bank’s contributions to the benefit 
pension plan are charged to the profit or loss as incurred. 
(ii) Paid annual leave 
The Bank recognizes as a liability the undiscounted amount of the estimated costs related to annual leave 
expected to be paid in exchange of the employee’s service for the period completed. 
(iii) Employee Health Insurance 
The Bank also operates a defined contribution employee health insurance plan. The contribution is payable to 
the insurance company in proportion to the services rendered to the Bank by the employees and is recorded as 
an expense under ‘Personnel expenses’. Unpaid contributions are recorded as a liability.  
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(t) Income tax expense 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax expenses. 
(i) Current tax  
The current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible.  
Corporate tax expense is recognized in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized 
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years in 
accordance with the Albanian tax legislation.  Taxable income is calculated by adjusting the statutory profit 
before taxes for certain income and expenditure items as required under Albanian law. 
(ii) Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences, except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses, to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and 
the carry forward of unused tax losses can be utilised except where the deferred tax asset relating to the 
deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss. 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income 
are also recognised in equity, or in other comprehensive income and not in the profit or loss. 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority. 
(u) Equity reserves 
The reserves recorded in equity on the Bank’s statement of financial position include: 
- ‘Available–for–sale’ reserve which comprises changes in fair value of available–for–sale investments. 
- ‘Legal reserves’ which includes the amount of statutory reserves created as per Central Bank regulations 

(Note 25). 
- ‘Translation reserves’ which represents the amount added to the historical cost of the paid up capital of 

the branch upon its transformation into subsidiary using the exchange rates as of 31 December 2011.   
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(v) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year 
ended 31 December 2016, and have not been early applied in preparing these financial statements. Those that 
may be relevant to the Bank are set out below:  
International Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial Instruments”  
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2018. On 24.7.2014, the International Accounting 
Standards Board completed the issuance of the final text of IFRS 9: Financial Instruments, which replaces the 
existing IAS 39. The new standard provides for significant differentiations in the classification and 
measurement of financial instruments as well as in hedge accounting. An indication of the new requirements 
is presented below: 
Classification and measurement 
Financial instruments shall be classified, at initial recognition, at either amortized cost or at fair value. The 
criteria that should be considered for the initial classification of the financial assets are the following: 
i. The entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and 
ii. The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.  
With regards to the financial liabilities, the main difference is that the change in the fair value of a financial 
liability initially designated at fair value through profit or loss shall be recognised in profit or loss with the 
exception of the effect of change in the liability’s credit risk which shall be recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income.  
Impairment 
Contrary to the existing IAS 39, under which an entity recognizes only incurred credit losses, the new standard 
requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk of the financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition, 12-month expected credit losses shall be recognized. 
Except for the aforementioned modifications, the issuance of IFRS 9 has resulted in the amendment to other 
standards and mainly to IFRS 7 where new disclosures were added. 
The Bank is examining the impact from the adoption of IFRS 9 on its financial statements. 
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(v) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted (continued) 
International Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued) 
IFRS 9 Implementation Program 
The Bank, in order to ensure proper application of the new standard, has embarked on the IFRS 9 
Implementation Program. 
For the management of the Program two Committees have been established: 
a. An Implementation Steering Committee consisting of member of the General Management 
b. An Operational Steering Committee consisting of senior management from several units of the Bank such 
as: Finance, Credit Risk and IT. 

The Implementation Steering Committee meets on a regular basis to confirm key assumptions, to monitor the 
progress of the implementation in cooperation with  the Group. The program is organized around two main 
work streams, the impairment workstream and the classification and measurement work stream. Delivery of 
implementation of the required changes has been undertaken by the approximately 19 projects that the Bank 
has identified to ensure compliance with IFRS 9. 
To date, the Program has been directed towards determining the classification of its financial instruments 
based on the new criteria, developing key methodologies regarding IFRS 9 concepts, designing the operating 
model and the systems operating model will be maintained and developing risk modeling methodologies for 
the calculation of impairment. 

Classification and measurement work stream 
The Bank is in the process of assessing the existing, and defining the new business models, where necessary, 
that will be compatible with the Bank’s business strategy. The result of the assessment will be the mapping of 
Bank’s financial assets to the new business models. 
Additionally, the Bank is in the process of assessing its financial assets in order to determine whether the SPPI 
criterion (i.e. cash flows represent Solely Payments of Principal and Interest) is met. For standardised retail 
loans, the assessment is based on product characteristics while for non standardised (mainly corporate) loans 
and debt securities the assessment is based on the characteristics of the individual asset. 
Finally, the Bank is in the process of updating policies and designing new classification processes that shall 
be applied for the classification of financial assets from 1 January 2018. 

Impairment work stream 
The Bank will be required to record an allowance for expected losses for all loans and other debt financial 
assets not held at fair value through profit or loss, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee 
contracts.  
The allowance is based on the expected credit losses associated with the probability of default in the next 
twelve months unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the 
allowance is based on the probability of default over the life of the asset. 
When determining whether the risk of default has significantly increased since initial recognition, the Bank 
intends to consider reasonable and supportable information, both quantitative and qualitative, that could vary 
between portfolios. 
The Bank is currently developing its detailed methodologies for assessing when there is an increase in credit 
risk.  
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(v) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted (continued) 
International Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued) 
IFRS 9 Implementation Program (continued) 
The key inputs to the measurement of the expected credit loss are the following variables: 
– Probability of default 
– Loss Given default 
– Exposure at default 
The Bank expects to derive these parameters from internally developed statistical models and other historical 
data that will be adjusted to reflect forward looking information. The Bank intends to develop at least two 
scenarios to estimate future economic environment. 
Finally, the Bank is designing the processes and the governance framework for impairment calculations, 
including the new elements introduced by IFRS 9, with the aim to establish detailed process flows to be 
implemented in the system for impairment calculations and to update accordingly the policy and process 
manuals. 

Transition approach 
The classification and measurement and impairment requirements are applied retrospectively by adjusting 
the opening balance sheet at the date of initial application, with no requirement to restate comparative periods. 
The current intention of the Bank is not to restate comparatives. 

Quantitative Impact 
It is estimated that until IFRS 9 Implementation Program has progressed to such a degree that important 
decisions affecting implementation have been taken and incorporated in the models for the calculation of 
impairment losses, there would be no reliable estimate of the impact of IFRS 9, especially with regards to the 
interaction with regulatory capital requirements. 
Therefore, no reliable information can be disclosed regarding expected impact on the Bank’s financial 
position. 
The Bank, however, intends to quantify the potential impact of IFRS 9 once allowed by the degree of Program 
Implementation and no later than the audited annual financial statements of 31 December 2017. 

International Financial Reporting Standard 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”  
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers” was issued on 28.5.2014 by the International Accounting Standards Board. The new standard is 
the outcome of a joint project by the IASB and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) to develop 
common requirements as far as the revenue recognition principles are concerned. The new standard shall be 
applied to all contracts with customers, except those that are in scope of other standards, such as financial 
leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments. According to the new standard, an entity recognizes 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. A new 
revenue recognition model is introduced, by applying the following five steps:  
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3.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
(v) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted (continued) 

International Financial Reporting Standard 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”  (continued) 
– Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer 
– Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract 
– Step 3: Determine the transaction price 
– Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 
– Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 
The performance obligation notion is new and in effect represents a promise in a contract with a customer to 
transfer to the customer either:  
– a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or  
– a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of 

transfer to the customer.  
The new IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, IAS 18 “Revenue”, IFRIC 13 “Customer 
Loyalty Programmes”, IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate”, IFRIC 18 “Transfers of 
Assets from Customers”, and SIC-31 “Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services”. 
The Bank is examining the impact from the adoption of IFRS 15 on its financial statements. 
International Financial Reporting Standard 16 “Leases” 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. On 13 January 2016, the International 
Accounting Standards Board issued IFRS 16 “Leases” which supersedes: 
– IAS 17 “ Leases” 
– IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease” 
– SIC 15 “Operating Leases – Incentives” and  
– SIC 27 “Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal form of a lease”. 
The new standard significantly differentiates the accounting of leases for lessees while essentially maintaining 
the existing requirements of IAS 17 for the lessors. In particular, under the new requirements, the classification 
of leases as either operating or finance is eliminated. A lessee is required to recognize, for all leases with term 
of more than 12 months, the right-of-use asset as well as the corresponding obligation to pay the lease 
payments. The above treatment is not required when the asset is of low value. The Bank is examining the 
impact from the adoption of IFRS 16 on its financial statements. 

The following new or amended standards are expected to have a minor impact on the Bank’s financial 
statements: 
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 
• Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative  
• Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
• IFRIC Interpretation 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 
• Amendments to IAS 40: Transfers of Investment Property 
The following standards, amendments or interpretations were issued by the IASB but will not have an 
impact on the bank’s financial statements:  
• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle 
• Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 
• Amendments to IFRS 4: Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture”. 
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4. Financial risk management  
(a) Introduction and overview 
The Bank is exposed to the following risks from financial instruments: 
• Credit risk – defined as the potential that an obligor will fail to meet his/her obligations (principal, 

interest, fees) on time or in full according to the contractual agreed terms. Credit risk arises from the 
potential that an obligor is either unwilling to perform on an obligation or the obligor’s ability to perform 
such an obligation is impaired resulting in economic loss to the Bank. In addition, losses result from a 
reduction in portfolio value due to actual or perceived deterioration in credit quality. 
o Concentration risk is a subcategory of Credit risk and includes the following: 

-  Large exposures to single obligors or group of connected obligors 
- Significant exposures to groups of counterparties whose probability of default is driven by common 
underlying factors such as the Industry Factor, Macroeconomic Environment, Geographical Location 
and Product Type. 

o Counterparty risk – defined as the risk that the counterparty to a transaction could default before the 
final settlement of the transaction’s cash flows. A loss would occur if the transaction or the portfolio 
of transactions with the counterparty has a positive value at the time of default. 

• Liquidity risk - defined as the risk to earnings arising from the Bank’s inability to meet its obligations as 
they become due, or fund new business, without incurring substantial losses as well as the inability to 
manage unplanned contraction or changes in funding sources. Liquidity risk also arises from the Bank’s 
failure to recognize or address changes in market conditions that affect the ability to liquidate assets 
quickly and with minimal loss in value. 

• Market risk - defined as the risk of reduction in economic value or reported income due to unfavorable 
changes in the value or volatility of interest rates, foreign exchange rates, stock exchange indices, equities 
and commodities. Therefore, market risk includes the following risk types: interest rate risk, foreign 
exchange risk, equity index risk, equity risk and commodity risk. It refers to both the trading and the 
banking book. 

• Operational risk - defined as the risk of the occurrence of an event, with or without financial impact, 
resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, IT systems, people (intentionally or unintentionally) 
and from external events. Operational risk also includes legal risk. 

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, 
policies and processes for managing risks, and the Bank’s capital. 
Risk management framework 
The Board of Directors has the oversight of the Bank’s risk management framework. Within this context the 
Board of Directors is assisted by the Risk Committee. The specific duties and responsibilities of the Risk 
Committee are determined in the ‘Rules and Regulations’ of the Risk Committee, on the basis of the internal 
procedures adopted and implemented by the Bank in accordance with the provisions of the law and the 
regulatory framework.  
 
The Risk Committee reviews, amends and updates the Credit, Impairment and Write Off policies, following 
the previous review from the Credit Risk Committee. The relevant policies are ratified by BoD. Additionally 
it promotes and ensures a robust risk and compliance culture. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(a) Introduction and overview (continued) 
The Risk Committee is the competent body that recommends to the Board of Directors the risks undertaking 
and capital management strategy, which corresponds to the business objectives of the Bank and monitors and 
checks its implementation. The Risk Committee evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk 
management policy and procedures of the Bank, in terms of the: 
• Undertaking, monitoring and management of risks per category of transaction and customer and per risk 

level (i.e. country, profession, and activity). 
• Determination of the applicable maximum risk appetite on an aggregate basis for each type of risk and 

further allocation of each of these limits per country, sector, currency, business unit etc. 
• Establishment of stop-loss limits or of other corrective actions. 

Additionally the Risk Committee ensures communication among the Internal Auditor, the External Auditors, 
the Supervisory Authorities and the Board of Directors on risk management issues. It convenes on a periodic 
basis, but not less than four times a year. 
The Board of Directors has authorized different committees for the governance of risks as follows:  
• Market risk, including the interest rate and liquidity risk: the Asset Liability Committee (ALCo);  
• Credit risk: Risk Committee, Credit Committee, Credit Risk Committee; and  
• Operational risk: Operational Risk Committee. 
The risk management framework describes the approaches adopted by the Bank regarding the capital adequacy 
requirements defined under the Basel II/Capital Requirements Directive and the country regulatory 
framework. The Bank has adopted a holistic approach to the risk management. Risk types are not managed 
independently but, on the contrary, on a unified basis that accounts for the possibility of overlaps among risks. 
During the business strategy processes, particular emphasis is placed on the strict observation and 
determination of the acceptable risk limits.  
The Risk Management Division is administratively independent of executive Units, Units engaged with 
transactions or accounting activities and Units that utilize the risk analysis prepared. The Risk Management 
Division is responsible for the design and implementation of the risk management policies, according to the 
Board of Directors and General Management guidelines.  
In particular the Risk Management Division acts as follows: 
• Introduces and applies the appropriate methods and models for risk management, including the risk 

identification, assessment, monitoring, controlling, reporting and stress testing. 
• Reviews, amends and proposes updates on the Credit, Impairment and Write Off policies. 
• Specializes, in cooperation with other competent Units, the risk limits by identifying/indicating parameters 

specific to each type of risk, and monitors them by establishing appropriate procedures. 
• Establishes early warning criteria for portfolios, on an overall and individual basis, and recommends 

appropriate procedures and actions, according to relevant exposure. 
• Validates the policies, processes and methodologies for financial assets and liabilities valuation and 

controls the appropriateness of prices used in the valuation process. 
• Recommends techniques for risk mitigation or risk adjustment to acceptable levels. 
• Assesses, regularly, the adequacy of the risk management methods and systems used and recommends 

corrective actions when deemed necessary. 
• Establishes control mechanisms for the implementation of the risk policies through analytical or on-site 

reviews as well as through ex-post credit review. 
• Prepares and submits reports to the Board of Directors and the Management through the relevant 

Committees. 
• Co-operates with the competent Units for the calculation of capital requirements as well as for the 

development of relevant methodologies and techniques. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(a) Introduction and overview (continued) 
To exercise its duties effectively, the Unit has access to all activities and Units, as well as to all of the Bank’s 
data and information required to accomplish its tasks. 
The Risk Management Policies of the Bank are established to identify and analyse, apart of the risks faced by 
the Bank, also to set appropriate risk limits and checks, and to properly monitor risks and adherence to limits. 
The Risk Management Policies and Procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in the market 
conditions and the products offered. The Bank, through continuous training process aims to develop a 
disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand own roles and duties. 

Alpha Bank Group Risk Management Framework 

Alpha Bank Albania, as subsidiary of Alpha Bank A.E. applies the same principles as defined by the Group 
in the area of Risk Management. Such principles shall be in line with international and local standards for 
effective risk management. Risk culture is embedded into all business units through the implementation of the 
Alpha Bank Group Risk Framework and initiatives aligned to the Group Risk Strategy. 
• Alpha Bank Group commits to achieving a strong control environment, and a distinctive risk management 

capability that enables Business Units to meet their performance objectives, and to achieve continuous 
improvement in the area of risk management. Alpha Bank Group undertakes regular risk assessments for 
the different risk types and particularly as part of the strategic planning process, and at times of change 
and project planning.  

• The risk management framework relies on the following guiding principles: 
o the risk management framework is risk-appetite driven; 
o the risk management framework is an integral part of business strategy and decision making; 
o the risk management framework is responsibility driven; 
o the risk management framework promotes transparency through clear communication lines; 
o appointed personnel involved in the governance model has an active role to play in managing risks and 

possess the necessary skills and resources to manage it effectively; 
o appointed personnel has a good understanding of their roles and responsibilities within the risk 

management framework; 
o all risk identification, assessment, monitoring, reporting, control/mitigation activities, and systems are 

well documented, and adequate information and reporting mechanisms are provided to all levels of 
Management and Business Units. 

• The risk management framework is dynamic; it evolves constantly in response to changes in strategic 
goals, and internal (organisational and business) and external (market) conditions. 

Volatility in global and Albania’s financial markets 
The Bank operates in the condition of a dynamically developing global financial and economic crisis. Its 
further extension might result in negative implications on the financial position of the Bank. The management 
of the Bank performs daily monitoring over all positions of assets and liabilities, incomes and expenses, as 
well as the development of the international financial markets, applying the best banking practices. The 
management based on this, analyses in addition the profitability, liquidity and the cost of funds and implements 
adequate measures in respect to credit, market (primarily interest rate) and liquidity risk, thus limiting the 
possible negative effects from the global financial and economic crisis. In this way the Bank responds to the 
challenges of the market environment, maintaining a stable capital and a good liquidity position.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument will 
fail to meet its contractual obligations on time or in full. Credit risk arises from the potential that an obligor is 
either unwilling to perform on an obligation or its ability to perform such obligation is impaired resulting in 
economic losses to the bank. In addition, losses result from the reduction in portfolio value due to the actual 
or perceived deterioration in the credit quality of the obligor. 
Credit risk is considered the most significant risk for the Bank.  
The Bank recognizes the need to identify, to measure, to monitor and to control the credit risk inherent in its 
retail and wholesale activities as well as to determine that it holds adequate capital against the risk and is 
adequately compensated. The Bank aims to maintain the credit risk exposures within acceptable levels. The 
Bank has authorized and established the respective committees to manage the credit risk. The Risk Committee 
is responsible for providing oversight of the credit risk management framework, the established Credit 
Committees and Credit Divisions are responsible for overseeing the credit risk activities, the Credit Risk  
Committee and the Risk Management Division are responsible for proposing the credit policies and 
procedures, the Audit Committee and the independent Internal Audit Division are responsible for ensuring 
that the credit risk practices are sufficient and appropriate for the credit risk-taking activity.  
The Risk Management Division  insures compliance and monitors the implementation of the risk policies in 
line with Group and Bank’s strategy and to local regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee of the Bank 
is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies and for reviewing the 
adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Bank Audit 
Committee is assisted in these functions by the Internal Audit Department. The Internal Audit undertake 
regular reviews of risk management controls and procedures and reports results to the Audit Committee. 
The Bank, in order to effectively manage the credit risk has developed specific methodologies and systems to 
identify and assess the credit risk. These systems and methodologies are continuously evolving in accordance 
with the macroeconomic, legal and regulatory development and also based on the economy structural and 
industry sectorial developments. 
The main tools for the identification and assessment of the wholesale and retail credit risk are the credit risk 
rating, Score Models and grading systems. Grading, score models and rating systems are subject to continuous 
quality control to ensure at all times their proactive ability. During 2016, the Bank has qualitatively and 
quantitatively validated these models and has improved them in accordance with the changes in the economic 
and financial environment. Further, the Bank has qualitatively and quantitatively validated these models and 
has updated them in accordance with the changes in the economic and financial environment. 

Environmental and Social Risk 
Within Credit Risk Management Framework and Credit Policy, it has been integrated the assessment of the 
compliance with the principles of an environmentally and socially responsible financing towards legal entities. 
The main purpose is the management of potential risk arising from the operations of obligors that may be 
connected with a damage to the environment or the society, or with any direct threat of such a damage, having 
as a result a negative impact on the business operations and financial results of the Bank. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
In terms of credit risk management, the Risk Management Division is responsible for: 
- monitoring credit risk in order to ensure compliance with the credit risk strategy and policy as well as 

effectiveness of counter measures and management actions; 
- identifying and assessing existing and potential credit risks inherent in products/activities; 
- assessing the impairment and regulatory provisions levels for the loan portfolio; 
- reporting to the Risk Committee on identified or imminent problems related to changes in the current or 

expected risk profile. 
In addition, the Bank performs semi – annual credit stress tests in order to assess the vulnerability to possible 
future events such as changes in economic or financial environment which may have adverse or unfavourable 
effects on its credit exposures and its ability to withstand such changes. Results of such stress tests may be 
used as drivers for further optimization of Risk portfolio monitoring.   
The Bank assesses on each reporting date whether there is evidence of impairment in accordance with the 
general principles and methodology set out in IAS 39 and the relevant implementation guidance as well as the 
Impairement Policy Principles. 
Maximum exposure to credit risk 

 Note Category 2016  2015 
Balances with Central Bank 12 Standard 10,980,128  8,379,150 
Loans to financial institutions 13 Standard 8,802,474  8,623,717 
Loans and advances to customers 16 See below 34,922,403  35,795,120 
AFS financial assets 15 Standard 17,322,957  15,363,458 
Held-to-maturity financial assets 14 Standard 863,340  1,359,987 
   72,891,302  69,521,432 
Undrawn credit commitments 27 Standard 1,878,291  1,723,880 
Letters of Credit 27 Standard 266,385  - 
Guarantees in favor of customers 27 Standard 368,437  438,429 
   2,513,113  2,162,309       
Total exposure, before impairment   75,404,415  71,683,741 

The standard category represents neither past due nor impaired exposures. 
The table below shows the net exposure of loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015, categorized as per individual and collective impaired portfolio: 

     
Gross amount:  2016  2015 
Neither past due nor impaired  19,457,290  17,459,455 
Past due but not impaired   9,219,414  10,802,096 
Collectively impaired  2,139,637  1,971,362 
Individually impaired  4,163,537  5,617,160 
Loan origination fees-deferred   (57,475)  (54,953) 
  34,922,403  35,795,120 
Individual allowance for impairment  (1,435,311)  (2,232,297) 
Collective allowance for impairment  (923,381)  (713,901) 
  (2,358,692)  (2,946,198) 
Total carrying amount   32,563,711  32,848,922 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
Past due exposures 
Past due exposures are defined as exposures that are more than one (1) day past due. 
Non-performing exposures 
An exposure is considered as non-performing when one of the following criteria is satisfied: 
• The exposure is more than 90 days past due; 
• An exposure against which legal actions have been undertaken by the Bank; 
• The debtor is assessed as unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full without the realization of the 

collateral; 
• The exposure is classified as impaired. 
Performing exposures 
An exposure is considered as performing when the following criteria are met: 
• The exposure is less than 90 days past due; 
• No legal actions have been undertaken against the exposure; 
• The situation of the debtor has improved to the extent that full repayment, according to the original or 

when applicable the modified conditions, is likely to be made; 
• The exposure is not classified as impaired. 

Unlikely to pay Exposures 
For the Wholesale Banking Portfolio: Customers assessed as unlikely to pay are the customers that are 
announced to the Non Performing Loans Wholesale Division with no past due exposures. 
For the Retail Banking Portfolio, the following exposures are considered as unlikely to pay: 
• Fraudulent cases; 
• Deseased Customers; 
• Unemployed Customers with lack of any source of income; 
• Customers with heavy health problems; 
• Very small businesses, which have ceased their operations (inactive); 
• The legal entity has declared bankruptcy. 
Impaired Exposures 
Impaired exposures are those loans and advances to customers for which the Bank determines that it is 
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the 
loan agreement. The Bank implements the Impairment methodology, which is in line with Alpha Bank Group 
IFRS Impairment Framework. The Bank proceeds to impairment assessment when specific quantitative or 
qualitative trigger events occur. 
The following cases of loans are defined as impaired:  
a. Loans for which an impairment amount has been allocated following the individual assessment for 
impairment, 
b. Exposures in arrears more than 90 days or under legal workout status, for which an impairment amount has 
been allocated following the collective assessment for impairment; 
c. Exposures of debtors assessed as unlikely to pay.   
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
A breakdown analysis of interest income from impaired and nonimpaired loans to customers for the years 
2016 and 2015 is detailed as below: 

2016 
 

Interest income on 
non impaired loans 

 
Interest income 

on impaired 
loans   

Total interest 
income 

Retail Lending  720,871  84,699  805,570 
Corporate Lending  706,130  274,797  980,927 
Public Sector  10,159  -  10,159 
Total interest income 1,437,160  359,496  1,796,656 

 

2015 
 

Interest income on 
non impaired loans 

 
Interest income 

on impaired 
loans   

Total interest 
income 

Retail Lending  719,922  170,607  890,529 
Corporate Lending  748,382  486,744  1,235,126 
Public Sector  14,687  -  14,687 
Total interest income  1,482,991  657,351  2,140,342 

Allowances for impairment 
The Bank establishes an allowance for impairment losses on assets carried at amortised cost or classified as 
held-to-maturity that represents its estimate of incurred losses in its loan and held-to-maturity security 
portfolio. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually 
significant exposures, and a collective loan loss allowance that relates to business loans of the retail sector and 
as well as for consumer and mortgage loans.  
Restructured loans 
The cases of renegotiating the initial terms of a credit agreement due to the borrower’s financial difficulties to 
meet his contractual obligations. The total restructured loans at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 are 
as follows:  

Restructured loans  2016 
 

2015 
Neither past due nor impaired  1,794,144  1,479,727 
Past due but not impaired  1,929,039  2,298,271 
Impaired  1,605,352  728,002 
Gross amount  5,328,535  4,506,000 
Individual Impairment Allowance  (88,458)  (55,805) 
Collective Impairment Allowance  (167,958)  (96,117) 
Carrying amount   5,072,119  4,354,078 

Wholesale Banking Portfolio  
The process for determining the loans eligible for impairment and the estimation of their provision comprises 
the following steps:  
1. Identification of loans which will be individually assessed.  
2. Impairment calculation on individual basis for the loans identified in the previous step.  
3. Recognition of the loans to be assessed collectively, including cases where the impairment allowance 

under individual assessment was zero  
4. Collective provision calculation for the loans identified in the previous step (3).  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
Wholesale Banking Portfolio (continued) 

For provision purposes, under collective assessment, loans are separated based on similar credit risk 
characteristics. These characteristics are selected based on the future cash flows of the respective loan 
categories which depict customers’ ability to repay their debts according to the contractual agreements.  
Loss Rate is calculated based on credit risk characteristics of the segment and portfolio in which the facility 
or the customer belongs to. The Loss Rate is determined with statistical methods.  
Trigger Events for the Individual Assessed Exposures  
• Customers with credit risk rating D, D0 or D1 or D2 or E or with overdue amount above 90 days;  
• Customers with rating CC- or C;  
• Obligors which operate in industries with significant deterioration in their outlook (taking into account the 

five higher risk sectors according to Risk Analyst classification);  
• The debtor exhibits substantial difficulty in meeting other credit obligations in the market; 
• Derogatory items including but not limited to: payment orders, bounced cheques, auctions, bankruptcies, 

overdue payments to the State, to Social Security Funds or to employees, etc; 
• Customers with impairment amount in the previous impairment test for which none of the above criteria 

is met.  
• Occurrence of unexpected, extreme events such as fraud, natural disasters, etc.;  
• Breach of contract or credit terms and conditions;  
• Adverse changes in the shareholders’ structure or the management of the company or serious management 

issues/ problems;  
• Significant adverse changes in cash flows potentially due to ceased cooperation with a key/major 

customer, significant reduction in demand of a main product or service, ceased cooperation with a 
key/major supplier or suppliers cut credit etc.; and 

• Significant deterioration in the debtor’s key financial ratios (i.e. a decrease in own funds due to substantial 
operating losses, a deterioration in the debt service coverage ratio, etc.), as well as a deterioration in the 
value of its future expected cash flows. 

Collective assessment 
The customers who have been assessed individually, but the impairment allowance estimated was zero and 
also the rest of the Wholesale Banking Portfolio that had initially resulted without any trigger event, are 
consequently assessed for impairment on collective basis, once grouped in pools based on common credit risk 
characteristics.  
Retail Banking Portfolio  
For the Retail Banking portfolio, loans are assessed on a collectively basis once grouped in several pools based 
on common characteristics, such as:  
• Bucket of the loan 
• Product type  
• Currency  
• Restructuring and Legal flag  
Trigger Events for the Collective assessment  
The specific trigger events for the collective assessment for the Retail Banking portfolios are the following:  
• Accounts with more than 30 days past due 
• Restructured Loans  
• Legal cases  
• Accounts with partial write off.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
Write-offs 
Write-offs are defined as the accounting reduction of a debt, which does not mean waiving the legal claim 
against the debtors and, hence, the debt may be revived. Proposals for (full or partial) write-offs on the debts 
may be submitted to the competent committee on the condition that the following have been carried out: 
• The relevant agreements with the clients have been terminated. 
• Payment orders have been issued against all the liable parties. 
• The procedure for the registration of compulsory encumbrances has commenced. 
• At least one real estate property has been auctioned, in order for the privileged claims (through the final 

creditors priority list) and, as a result, for the possible losses of the Bank to be finalized. 
• Equal impairment provision at least during the quarter preceding the one of the proposal. 

Written – off loans Mortgage Consumer Credit Cards Corporate Total  
At 1 January 2015 311,470 42,438 55,434 328,279 737,621 
Write – off 6,538 2,770 484 1,514,261 1,524,053 
Recoveries (12,158) (10,832) (5,326) - (28,316) 
At 31 December 2015 305,850 34,376 50,592 1,842,540 2,233,358 
Write – off  9,000   65,924   31,518   1,083,303  1,189,745 
Recoveries  (5,675)  (5,234)  (3,461)  (1,223)  (15,593) 
At 31 December 2016 309,175 95,066 78,649 2,924,620 3,407,510 

The Bank frequently monitors the written – off portfolio. The Bank has recovered Lek 15,593 thousand (2015: 
Lek 28,316 thousand) during the year 2016. 
Write-downs 
Write-downs are defined as the permanent accounting reduction of a debt, as a result of a legally binding 
decision or agreement (court judgment, contractual agreement etc.), which is no further claimable and, hence, 
is considered as definitively non-receivable, whereas it also entails the fact that the Bank definitively and 
irrevocably waives its right to claim the written-down debt, unless (in case of settlement) it is ascertained that 
the terms set by virtue of the aforementioned decision or agreement were violated. From the total amount of 
written off loans during 2016 of Lek 1,189,746 thousand,  the amount of Lek 70,649 thousand represents write 
downs. 
Collateral 
The Bank holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgage interests over 
property, other registered securities over assets, and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value 
of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and periodically updated as per collateral type. Collateral 
generally is not held over loans and advances to banks, except when securities are held as part of reverse 
repurchase and securities borrowing activity. Collateral usually is not held against held-to-maturity financial 
assets. An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against loans and 
advances to customers is shown below: 

    2016  2015 
Corporate Lending   16,840,165  20,605,752 
Real estate collateral   16,799,272  19,485,669 
Financial collateral   40,893  20,583 
Other collateral   -  1,099,500 
Retail Lending   10,427,571  9,729,239 
Real estate collateral   10,223,572  9,531,272 
Financial collateral   203,999  197,967 
Other collateral   -  - 
Total   27,267,736  30,334,991 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 
(b)  Credit risk (continued) 

Concentration by location 

Concentration by location for loans and advances is measured based on the location of the Bank entity holding the asset, which has a high correlation with the location 
of the borrower. Concentration by location for investment and trading securities is measured based on the location of the issuer of the security. 

 2016 2015 

 Albania Other countries Total Albania Other countries Total 
Balances with Central Bank  10,980,128 - 10,980,128 8,379,150 - 8,379,150 
Loans and advances to financial institutions 2,062,942 6,739,532 8,802,474 2,496,985 6,126,732 8,623,717 
Loans and advances to customers, net 30,183,169 2,380,542 32,563,711 31,672,662 1,176,260 32,848,922 
Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS) 10,873,142 6,449,815 17,322,957 9,176,259 6,187,199 15,363,458 
Held-to-maturity financial assets (HTM) 863,340 - 863,340 1,359,987 - 1,359,987 
 54,962,721 15,569,889 70,532,610 53,085,043 13,490,191 66,575,234 

The ‘Other countries’ category represents counterparties located in European countries. See Note 15 for further details on the AFS financial assets with other countries. 
AFS and HTM Financial assets in Albania, represent treasury bills and bonds issued by the Albanian Government. 
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 
(b)   Credit risk (continued) 
Rating analysis 

Rating analysis for balances with Central Banks, Loans and advances to financial institutions, and Debt Securities for 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 is 
presented as below: 

 2016  2015 

Rating 
Central 

Banks 
Due from 

Banks 
Available-

for-sale 
Held-to-
maturity   Total  

Central 
Banks 

Due from 
Banks 

Available-
for-sale 

Held-to-
maturity   Total 

AAA - - 542,881 - 542,881  - - 1,797,533 - 1,797,533 
AA+ - - 1,237,992 - 1,237,992  - - - - - 
AA - - 1,236,754 - 1,236,754  - - 1,266,416 - 1,266,416 
A+ - - 1,250,102 - 1,250,102  - - 1,297,380 - 1,297,380 
A- - - 134,953 - 134,953  - - 145,483 - 145,483 
BBB+ - 566,220 219,156 - 785,376  - 3,595,321 - - 3,595,321 
BBB - 2,955,984 - - 2,955,984  - 2,322,329 - - 2,322,329 
B+ 10,980,128 - 10,911,488 863,340 22,754,956  8,379,150 - 9,773,704 1,359,987 19,512,841 
B - - 667,906 - 667,906  - - - - - 
CCC - 3,217,329 - - 3,217,329  - 209,082 - - 209,082 
Unrated - 2,062,941 1,121,725 - 3,184,666  - 2,496,985 1,082,942 - 3,579,927 
 10,980,128 8,802,474 17,322,957 863,340 37,968,899  8,379,150 8,623,717 15,363,458 1,359,987 33,726,312 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
Concentration by industry 

Loans and advances to customers 2016 % on total   2015 % on total  
Public Sector 947,522 3%  1,099,500 3% 
Manufacturing 6,160,593 19%  5,989,702 19% 
Real Estate Development 596,014 2%  775,918 2% 
Construction 3,021,978 9%  3,905,369 12% 
Wholesale and retail trade 5,845,402 18%  5,920,319 19% 
Transportation 702,589 2%  896,435 3% 
Shipping - 0%  15,568 0% 
Hotels/Toursim 354,373 1%  426,331 1% 
Services 1,948,478 6%  489,650 1% 
Other sectors 2,693,337 8%  4,336,167 13% 
Mortgage loans 9,285,861 29%  9,124,353 28% 
Consumer and credit cards 3,327,554 10%  2,751,655 8% 
Business loans to individuals 96,177 0%  119,106 0% 
Deferred loan origination fees (57,475) 0%  (54,953) (0%) 
Allowance for impairment losses (2,358,692) (7%)  (2,946,198) (9%) 

 32,563,711 100%  32,848,922 100% 
(c) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk to earnings arising from the Bank’s inability to meet its obligations as they 
become due, or fund new business, without incurring substantial losses, as well as the inability to manage 
unplanned contraction or changes in funding sources. Liquidity risk also arises from the Bank’s failure to 
recognize or address changes in market conditions that affect the ability to liquidate assets quickly and with 
minimal loss in value. 
The Board of Directors with the assistance of the Risk Committee has assigned the liquidity management and 
the risk liquidity management to the Assets-Liabilities Committee (ALCo).  
The ALCo approves the recommended liquidity risk policy, measurement techniques, limits and internal 
indicators and reviews them on an annual basis – or more frequently when required- in order to ensure that 
they remain in line with the Bank’s risk appetite, activities and business objectives. 
Liquidity Risk Measurement 
The main measure of liquidity risk is Liquidity Gap, which represents the maturity schedule showing assets, 
liabilities and off balance sheet exposures by time band according to their maturity. 
In collaboration with the Group Asset Liability Management (ALM) Division and ALM Risk Division, a 
statistical analysis of the behavior of non contractual accounts has been performed during the year. Therefore 
the respective Liquidity and Interest Rate Risk Gaps of 2016 and 2015 take into consideration the economic 
conditions of the country, the characteristics of each product and the behavior of the clients and also the 
competition’s current structure, in the context of a more efficient and effective management of Liquidity and 
Interest Rate risk of the Banking Book. The Risk Management Division is responsible for providing to ALCo 
all available liquidity risk reports, other than gaps, produced at Bank’s level.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 

The Risk Management Division applies the appropriate stress test scenarios with respect to liquidity risk. The 
stress test scenarios are based on scenarios that, if materialized, may have a significant impact on the liquidity 
position of the Bank. The principle is to determine the funding needs arising from these situations and to 
ensure that an adequate course of action is established. The stress tests are performed on a periodic basis to 
cover both regulatory requirements and internal needs.  
Liquidity Stress Test 
Three types of scenarios are taken into consideration: 
• systemic (or market) stress scenario, 
• idiosyncratic stress scenario (in relation to the institution), 
• Global stress scenario. 

The ALCo is responsible for approving and reviewing stress test scenarios on an annual basis. Internal liquidity 
risks indicators have been identified in relation to: 
• Short-term liquidity risk; 
• Long-term liquidity risk; 
• Liquidity Price risk; 

Liquidity Risk Monitoring 
The following ABA liquidity risk limits are periodically monitored: 
• Short Term Financing; 
• Medium/Long - Term Financing; 
• Internal Liquidity Risk Indicators; 
• Liquidity stress testing survival period 

These limits are approved by the ALCo. 
Liquidity Crisis Management 
In case a potential crisis is identified through daily and intra-day checks on liquidity or the review of future 
cash flow projections, the ALCo members are notified accordingly. The ALCo requires immediate notification 
of early warning signs of a liquidity crisis following the information received by the respective units for any 
specific developments in their area of responsibilities that might reflect an adverse effect in the Bank’s 
liquidity position. The ALCo assesses the external conditions and the Bank’s overall liquidity position. 
The situation is closely monitored for as long as a liquidity crisis is deemed to be a possibility. Frequent crisis 
management meetings may take place for the duration of this period in order to monitor prevailing market 
conditions and establish the appropriate steps to be taken in the event of an actual liquidity crisis. 
 
In the event of an actual liquidity crisis, the Contingency Funding Plan is implemented. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
Liquidity Crisis Management (continued) 
Recovery and Contingency Plan The Bank has developed the Contingency Funding Plan (CFP), which is 
reviewed periodically in compliance with the regulatory requirements and the internal needs of the Bank.  
Alpha Bank Albania’s Recovery Plan establishes measures (recovery options) to restore capital and/or 
liquidity so that the Bank can operate sustainably and viably. The Recovery Plan includes a range of credible 
recovery options to meet the following requirements: 
– The need to increase capital (capital resources) 
– The need to reduce risk weighted assets (capital requirements) 
– The need to increase funding sources (liquidity resources) 
– The need to reduce funding uses (liquidity requirements) 
The Recovery Plan contains a range of options with which, flexibly, individually or in combination, Alpha 
Bank Albania can respond depending on the nature of the emerging crisis. The Recovery Plan enhances the 
existing crisis management experience supporting the rapid evaluation and selection from the list of Alpha 
Bank Albania recovery options. The combination of pro-active crisis management processes and realistic 
assessments of its available options, assures the feasibility and execution of the Alpha Bank’s Recovery Plan.  
These options have been challenged against a diverse set of stress scenarios (idiosyncratic crisis, a market 
wide/systemic crisis and a combined fast and slow idiosyncratic and systemic crisis). Taking into account the 
actual liquidity and capital position, the Recovery Plan aims having appropriate contingency plans in place to 
respond adequately to situations of severe financial stress, and demonstrates its capability and likelihood to 
return to viability and stability.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
Exposure to liquidity risk  
The tables below set out the remaining contractual maturities of the Bank’s liabilities and assets, including nonfinancial items: 
 
 31 December 2016  Up to 1 month   1 to 3 months   3 to 12 months   1 to 5 years   Over 5 years   Total  
             
 Cash and balances with Central bank  7,032,532 822,339 3,092,016 1,197,497 - 12,144,384 
 Loans and advances to financial institutions   8,802,474 - - - - 8,802,474 
 Available-for-sale financial assets  1,179,523 700,000 4,157,293 7,357,794 3,928,347 17,322,957 
 Held-to-maturity financial assets  13,340 - 650,000 200,000 - 863,340 
 Loans and advances to customers  2,200,102 1,819,585 5,195,772 15,318,196 8,030,056 32,563,711 
 Property, equipment and intangibles  2,748 5,496 24,732 131,904 494,639 659,519 
 Other assets and prepaid tax 60,314 120,628 542,825 723,767 - 1,447,534 
 Total  Assets 19,291,033 3,468,048 13,662,638 24,929,158 12,453,042 73,803,919 
        
 Due to banks  1,984,101 - - - - 1,984,101 
 Due to Customers 12,805,163 7,816,439 28,656,911 9,559,099 - 58,837,612 
 Subordinated Debt  3,243 - - 811,380 1,352,300 2,166,923 
 Other liabilities  508,680 - - - - 508,680 
 Shareholder’s equity  42,945 85,888 386,498 2,061,321 7,729,951 10,306,603 
Total Liabilities 15,344,132 7,902,327 29,043,409 12,431,800 9,082,251 73,803,919 
Marginal Gap 3,946,901 (4,434,279) (15,380,771) 12,497,358 3,370,791 - 
Cumulative Gap 3,946,901 (487,378) (15,868,149) (3,370,791)                      -     

The Bank’s expected cash flows on some financial assets and financial liabilities vary significantly from the contractual cash flows. The principal differences include 
demand deposits from customers which are expected to remain stable or increase and available-for-sale financial assets, which can be sold to meet liquidity requirements.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

 
 31 December 2015  Up to 1 month   1 to 3 months   3 to 12 months   1 to 5 years   Over 5 years   Total  
             
 Cash and balances with Central bank  4,640,973 910,159 2,963,113 1,005,975 - 9,520,220 
 Loans and advances to financial institutions   8,623,717 - - - - 8,623,717 
 Available-for-sale financial assets  404,670 461,791 1,583,831 9,963,376 2,949,790 15,363,458 
 Held-to-maturity financial assets  - - 494,214 865,773 - 1,359,987 
 Loans and advances to customers  632,568 2,447,128 4,530,391 16,796,829 8,442,006 32,848,922 
 Property, equipment and intangibles  3,201 6,401 28,805 153,629 576,109 768,145 
 Other assets and prepaid tax  30,224 62,222 280,000 374,221 - 746,667 
 Total  Assets 14,335,353 3,887,701 9,880,354 29,159,803 11,967,905 69,231,116 
        
 Due to banks  6,016 - - - - 6,016 
 Due to Customers 10,987,674 8,883,874 27,740,983 7,511,662 - 55,124,193 
 Subordinated Debt  - 3,684 - - 2,196,480 2,200,164 
 Other liabilities  394,006 - - - - 394,006 
 Shareholder’s equity  -    -    -    -    11,506,737  11,506,737  
Total Liabilities 11,387,696  8,887,558  27,740,983  7,511,662  13,703,217  69,231,116  
Marginal Gap 2,947,657  (4,999,857) (17,860,629) 21,648,141  (1,735,312) -    
Cumulative Gap 2,947,657  (2,052,200) (19,912,829) 1,735,312  -     

38 
 
 



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(d) Market risks 
Market risk is the risk of reduction in economic value arising from unfavourable changes in the value 
or volatility of interest rates, foreign exchange rates, stock exchange indices, equity prices and 
commodities. 
Losses may also occur either from the trading portfolio or from the Assets-Liabilities management. 
The Bank identifies, measures, monitors and controls Market risk through established risk management 
framework- policies, procedures and working directions. 

Within the scope of policy-making for financial risk management exposure limits and maximum loss 
limits (stop loss) have been set. In particular, the following limits have been set for the following risks: 

• Foreign currency risk  
• Interest rate risk on bond positions  
• Credit risk regarding interbank transactions 

Positions held are monitored on a daily basis and are examined for the corresponding limit percentage 
cover and for any limit excess.  

(e) Currency Risk  

The Bank’s open foreign currency position is mainly due to banking book assets and liabilities, as well 
as client related FX transactions, It is subject to active management on an on-going basis under the 
prescribed internal and regulatory limits. 
The Bank identifies, measures, monitors and controls currency (FX) risk through established risk 
management framework- policies, procedures and working directions. The Market Risk Management 
Policy provides the framework and principles for the effective management of market risks including 
currency (FX) risk.  
As the currency in which the Bank presents its financial statements is the Albanian Lek, the Bank’s 
financial statements are effected by movements in the exchange rates between the Albanian Lek and 
other currencies. 

39 
 
 



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(e) Currrency risk (continued) 

The analysis of monetary positions as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 by currencies in which they were denominated is as follows: 

31 December 2016 LEK   EUR   USD   Other    Total 
 All amounts are in Lek ‘000          
Financial Assets          
Cash and balances with Central bank 2,295,031  9,559,006  237,306  53,041  12,144,384 
Loans and advances to financial institutions -  7,574,607  849,982  377,885  8,802,474 
Held-to-maturity financial assets 863,340  -  -  -  863,340 
Available-for-sale financial assets 10,873,142  6,449,815  -  -  17,322,957 
Loans and advances to customers 11,004,888  19,702,401  1,856,422  -  32,563,711 
Total 25,036,401  43,285,829  2,943,710  430,926  71,696,866 
          
Financial Liabilities          
Due to banks 1,341,499  588,210  54,392  -  1,984,101 
Due to customers 24,235,035  32,409,377  1,762,833  430,367  58,837,612 
Subordinated debt -  2,166,923  -  -  2,166,923 
Total 25,576,534  35,164,510  1,817,225  430,367  62,988,636 
          
Currency risk  (540,133)  8,121,319  1,126,485  559  8,708,230 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(e) Currency risk (continued) 

31 December 2015 LEK   EUR   USD   Other    Total 
 All amounts are in Lek ‘000          
Financial Assets          
Cash and balances with Central bank 2,845,964  6,333,207  309,828  31,221  9,520,220 
Loans and advances to financial institutions 930,044  6,392,207  1,097,570  203,896  8,623,717 
Held-to-maturity financial assets 1,359,987  -  -  -  1,359,987 
Available-for-sale financial assets 8,996,619  6,366,839  -  -  15,363,458 
Loans and advances to customers 10,197,196  21,080,544  1,571,182  -  32,848,922 
Total 24,329,810  40,172,797  2,978,580  235,117  67,716,304           
Financial Liabilities          
Due to banks 201  -  5,815  -  6,016 
Due to customers 24,128,305  28,968,435  1,788,198  239,255  55,124,193 
Subordinated debt -  2,200,164  -  -  2,200,164 
Total 24,128,506  31,168,599  1,794,013  239,255  57,330,373 
          
Currency risk  201,304  9,004,198  1,184,567  (4,138)  10,385,931 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(e) Currency Risk (continued) 
The net foreign exchange position as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 presents the following sensitivity 
analysis: 

Currency 
Exchange rate variation scenario against 
Lek (%) 

Stress Scenario 
Impact 2016 

Stress Scenario 
Impact 2015 

EUR 
Appreciation of EUR 5% 406,066 450,210 
Depreciation of EUR 5% (406,066) (450,210) 

USD 
Appreciation of USD 5% 56,324 59,228 
Depreciation of USD 5% (56,324) (59,228) 

Other 
Appreciation of 5% 28 (207) 
Depreciation of 5% (28) 207 

 
In order to measure currency (FX) risk the Bank applies Value at Risk – VAR. The method applied for 
calculating VAR is historical simulation. The Bank uses a holding period of one and ten days, depending on 
the time that is required to liquidate the positions.  
The VAR methodology is complemented with scenario analysis and stress testing, in order to estimate the 
potential sized of losses that coule arise for hypothetical as well as historical extreme movements of market 
parameters (stress-testing).  

(f) Financial Risk of banking book 
The financial risks of the banking portfolio derive from the structure of assets and liabilities and primarily 
from the portfolio of loans and deposits. The financial risks of the banking portfolio concern interest rate risk 
and the liquidity risk. The Bank incurs interest rate risk from its financial activitiy, principally in the form of 
exposure to adverse changes in the market interest rates. Assets and liabilities are allocated on time bands 
according to their repricing dates for floating interest rate instruments or according to their maturity date for 
the fixed-rated instruments. 
Interest Rate Risk is defined as the risk to earnings and economic value arising from adverse movements in 
interest rates. There are four main sources of interest rate risk which may have an impact on the Bank’s 
earnings and/or its economic value:  
Repricing risk: arises from timing differences in repricing of the Bank’s assets, liabilities both on and off 
balance sheet.  
Yield curve risk: arises when unanticipated shifts of the yield curve have adverse effects on the Bank’s 
earnings or underlying economic value.  
Basis risk: arises from imperfect correlation in the adjustment of the rates earned on and paid on different 
instruments with otherwise similar repricing characteristics; and  
Optionality risk: arises from embedded options in the Bank’s assets, liabilities or off balance sheet portfolios. 
The Risk Management Division, after taking into consideration also the opinion of the Finance and Accounting 
Division and the Treasury Department, develops and recommends the appropriate interest rate risk policy, 
measurement techniques, limits and internal indicators along with their alert levels and warning procedures, 
in accordance with:  
• the Bank’s risk tolerance and business objectives;  
• the complexity of the Bank’s activities; and  
• the composition of the Bank’s balance sheet.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(f) Financial Risk of banking book (continued) 
The ALCo reviews and approves the recommended interest rate risk policy, measurement techniques, limits 
and internal indicators and reviews them on an annual basis or more frequently as appropriate, in order to 
ensure compliance with the Bank’s risk appetite, activities and business objectives. The Interest Rate Risk 
Policy is finally ratified by the Board of Directors of ABA. 
Interest Rate Risk Measurement  
The Risk Management Division is responsible for interest rate risk measurement. The main measure of Interest 
Rate risk is the Interest Rate Risk Gap for each currency, which represents the repricing schedule showing 
assets, liabilities and off balance sheet exposures by time band according to their maturity (for fixed rate 
instruments), or next reprice date (for adjustable/ floating rate instruments). 
Specifically: 
The Risk Management Division has the responsibility of the system set up for interest rate risk purposes. The 
Risk Management Division ensures that:  

• all material risk factors associated with the Bank's assets and liabilities are assessed;  
• the models/assumptions used in the measurement are clearly understood and documented;  
• all material positions and cash flows are covered;  
• information on the yields or cash flows is available;  
• the data of current positions are comprehensive, accurate and timely and any manual adjustments are 

documented and the documentation is available for review;  
• the chart of accounts level of detail is commensurate with the nature, the complexity and risk of the 

interest sensitive products and positions. 
The Risk Management Division, in cooperation with other units develops and recommends the appropriate 
stress test scenarios with respect to interest rate risk. The Interest Rate stress tests are performed on a monthly 
basis. The scenario analysis consists of measuring the impact on earnings and economic value of the current 
balance sheet by simulating various scenarios (i.e. interest rate shifts). The ALCo is responsible for approving 
and reviewing stress test scenarios for their appropriateness on an annual basis.  

Interest Rate Risk Monitoring  
Interest rate risk arises due to the imperfect correlation between the maturity (for fixed interest rates) or re-
pricing date (for floating interest rates) of the interest-bearing assets and liabilities, adverse evolution of the 
slope and shape of the yield curve (the unparallel evolution of the interest rate yields of the interest-earning 
assets and liabilities). Asset-liability risk management activities are conducted in the context of the Bank’s 
sensitivity to interest rate changes. The Bank generally grants loans with floating interest rates, according to 
Bank’s policy and also with indexed interest rates (which re-price based on reference interest rates like 
Treasury Bill, EURIBOR, LIBOR, etc.).  
On the deposit side, the Bank offers mainly products with fixed interest rates. The Bank is exposed to various 
risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial 
position and cash flows. 
Assets Liabilities Committeee is the monitoring body for compliance with these limits and is assisted by the 
Treasury Section in its day-to-day monitoring activities.  
A summary of the Bank’s interest rate gap position on non-trading portfolios is as follows: 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(f) Financial Risk of banking book (continued) 

Exposure to interest rate risk – banking book  

31 December 2016 Up to 1 month   1 to 3 months   3 to 12 months   Over 1 year   
Non interest 

bearing   Total 
            
Cash and balances with Central bank 2,182,897   -     -     -     9,961,487  12,144,384  
Loans and advances to financial 
institutions 

8,802,474  
 

-    
 

-    
 

-    
 

- 
 

8,802,474  

Held-to-maturity financial assets 13,340   -     750,000   100,000   -  863,340  
Available-for-sale financial assets 1,637,883   1,903,547   5,416,003   8,365,524   -  17,322,957  
Loans and advances to customers 7,637,591   9,332,342   5,500,086   10,093,692   -  32,563,711  
Other assets -     -     -     -     2,107,053  2,107,053  
Total Assets 20,274,185   11,235,889   11,666,089   18,559,216   12,068,540  73,803,919  
            
Due to banks 1,984,101   -     -     -     -  1,984,101  
Due to customers 13,521,594   7,857,799   28,239,585   9,218,634   -  58,837,612  
Subordinated debt 3,243   2,163,680   -     -     -  2,166,923  
Other liabilities -     -     -     -     508,680  508,680  
Equity -     -     -     -     10,306,603  10,306,603  
Total Liabilities 15,508,938   10,021,479   28,239,585   9,218,634   10,815,283  73,803,919  
Marginal Gap 4,765,247   1,214,410   (16,573,496)  9,340,582   1,253,257  -    
Cumulative  Gap 4,765,247   5,979,657   (10,593,839)  (1,253,257)  -   
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(f)   Financial Risk of banking book (continued) 
Exposure to interest rate risk – banking book (continued) 

31 December 2015 Up to 1 month   1 to 3 months   3 to 12 months   Over 1 year   
Non interest 

bearing   Total 
            
Cash and balances with Central bank 4,745,153  911,177  2,931,783  932,107  -  9,520,220 
Loans and advances to financial 
institutions 8,623,685  -  -  -  32  8,623,717 
Held-to-maturity financial assets -  250,000  785,000  300,000  24,987  1,359,987 
Available-for-sale financial assets 637,280  1,674,072  3,200,150  9,464,952  387,004  15,363,458 
Loans and advances to customers 7,630,817  8,692,372  4,826,242  11,754,444  (54,953)  32,848,922 
Other assets  61,335    62,222    280,000    343,110    768,145    1,514,812  
Total Assets  21,698,270   11,589,843    12,023,175    22,794,613    1,125,215    69,231,116  
            
            
Due to banks 6,016  -  -  -  -  6,016 
Due to customers 11,511,078  8,863,692  27,266,254  7,214,538  268,631  55,124,193 
Subordinated debt -  2,196,480  -  -  3,684  2,200,164 
Other liabilities -  -  -  -  394,006  394,006 
Equity -  -  -  -  11,506,737  11,506,737 
Total Liabilities  11,517,094    11,060,172    27,266,254    7,214,538    12,173,058  69,231,116 
Marginal Gap  10,181,176    529,671    (15,243,079)   15,580,075    (11,047,843)   
Cumulative  Gap  10,181,176    10,710,847    (4,532,232)   11,047,843    -      

The management of interest rate risk against interest rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the sensitivity of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities to 
various standard and non-standard interest rate scenarios.  
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4.  Financial risk management (continued) 

(f) Financial Risk of banking book (continued) 
Exposure to interest rate risk – banking book (continued) 

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. In case of 
upward movements by 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date, profit or loss would decrease by 
Lek 32,219 thousand as of 31 December 2016 (2015: decrease by Lek 1,979 thousand). In case of downwards 
movements by 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date, profit or loss would decrease by Lek 
25,450 thousand as of 31 December 2016 (2015: decrease by Lek 2,835 thousand). 

 
  

 2016 
                                        

2015  

 

Interest Rate variation 
scenario 

 
Sensitivity for profit or 

loss  

  
Sensitivity for profit 

or loss  

Currency        
LEK +/(-)100b.p  (-) 35.074 / (+) 625   (-) 22,932 / (-) 4,556 
EUR +/(-)100b.p  (-) 9,944 / (-) 12,142   (+) 11,187 / (+) 7,253 
USD +/(-)100b.p  (+) 11,176 / (-) 12,593   (+) 8,907 / (-) 4,840 
Other (GBP/CHF) +/(-)100b.p  (+)1,623/ (-) 1,340   (+) 859 / (-) 692 

The average effective yields of significant categories of financial assets and liabilities of the Bank as at 31 
December 2016 and 31 December 2015 were as follows: 

 Weighted 
average interest 

rate (LEK) 

Weighted average 
interest rate  

(USD) 

Weighted average 
interest rate 

(EUR) 
31 December  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
Financial assets       
Cash and balances with Central Bank 0.92% 1.15% - - (0.21%) - 
Loans and advances to financial 
institutions 0.00% 0.55% 0.42% 0.27% 0.48% 0.13% 
Investments in securities 5.86% 5.42% 0.00% 0.00% 3.20% 3.21% 
Loans to customers 5.44% 7.42% 5.17% 6.28% 4.07% 4.92% 
Financial liabilities       
Due to banks 0.88% 0.24% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.4% 
Due to customers 1.10% 1.46% 0.19% 0.53% 0.19% 0.42% 
Other debts - -  - 1.82% 2.03% 

Exposure to foreign exchange risk  

The applicable rate of exchange (Lek to foreign currency unit) for the principal currencies as at 31 December 
2016 and 31 December 2015 were as follows: 

 2016 2015 
USD 128.17 125.79 
EUR 135.23 137.28 
GBP 157.56 186.59 
CHF 126.05 126.74 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(g) Operational risks 
Operational Risk is defined as the risk of the occurrence of an event, with or without financial impact, resulting 
from inadequate or failed internal processes, IT systems, people (intentionally or unintentionally) and from 
external events.  
Operational risk also includes legal risk which is associated with legally flawed actions, uncertainty regarding 
the definition of the law that may lead to inadequate interpretation and potential inefficiencies in the legal 
framework.  
The Bank’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and 
damage to the Bank’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict 
initiative and creativity.  
The Bank has also adopted an appropriate organizational structure, with clearly defines roles and 
responsibilities for its employees and units, in order to manage operational risk issues.  
In order to ensure proper implementation of the Operational Risk Management Framework specific 
Committees and roles have been established: 
Operational Risk Committee has the overall responsibility for overseeing the Operational risk management 
activities and ensures that operational risks are properly identified and managed. In addition to the Operational 
Risk Committee, the Bank has established lower level Committees that are involved in the review and decision 
making process relevant to operational risk events. These Committees act within specific limits as per 
respective risk events. 
Risk Management Division which implements the operational risk framework and ensures compliance with 
the local regulatory framework. 
Organizational units throughout the Bank identify, assess, monitor and collect their own operational risk in 
compliance with Operational risk management framework. Each organizational unit has appointed 
Operational Risk Coordinators. This role has been assigned to Officers of the Bank’s Departments and 
Business Units with experience and knowledge of  the unit’s operations, in order to raise the awareness, to 
support all necessary communication and to promote corrective actions within the unit.  
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is 
assigned to senior management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development 
of overall Bank standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:  
• requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions  
• requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions  
• compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements  
• documentation of controls and procedures  
• requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and 
procedures to address the risks identified  
• requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action  
• development of contingency plans  
• training and professional development  
• ethical and business standards  
• risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.  
Operational Risk Management is performed according to a specific Group Framework with policies,  
procedures and guidelines, which are continuously reviewed and improved. It focuses particularly in the 
following areas: 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(g) Operational risks (continued) 
The “Operational Risk Event Data Collection” methodology including management of Lawsuits filed 
against the Bank, for the purpose of operational risk identification and assessment. The Bank collects events 
resulting from operational risks which are categorized by category, business lines, event cause and effect type. 
Reported operational risk events are recorded in the centralized data base. The process of event collection is 
centrally handled by Operational Risk Section within Risk Management Division, which consolidates and 
analyzes all available information. Additionally the Bank has established operational risk committees with 
specific authority limits delegated with the review and management of the operational risk events.  
Operational Risk Control Self-Assessment (ORCSA)  
As a tool for assessing operational risk exposure, the Bank uses operational risk and control self-assessment 
process as well as definition and monitoring of key risk indicators.  
The Bank has completed a Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) – Project in  2016 –. This was the third 
consecutive year that RCSA is conducted and this process involved all the business units of the Bank and 
aimed at enabling the Bank to take a proactive risk management approach.  
Operational Risk monitoring and reporting  
Risk Management Division provides the Executive Board, Operational Risk Committee and competent 
Group’s units with a clear view and appropriate reports on the level of the Bank’s operational risk exposure.  
Operational Risk Committee reviews and analyses information related to operational risk events, ORCSA 
outcomes, KRIs, IT Key Performance Indicators, providing the appropriate level of support, for action plans 
designed to prevent the recurrence of operational risk losses or to mitigate the identified operational risks and 
improve the quality of risk management.  
Operational Risk mitigation  
The Bank’s primary protection against operational risk exposure is achieved through the implementation of 
policies, procedures, as well as system of internal controls. Additionally the implementation of the action plans 
as defined in ORCSA process provide additional protection against future operational risk losses; The Bank 
has purchased specific local Insurance Policies which cover specific areas of operational risk (i.e. damage of 
physical assets) and, as a member of the Alpha Bank Group is covered by the Group Bankers Blanket Bond. 
Parallel to the recording and monitoring of the operational risk loss events, Alpha Bank Albania is 
countinously monitoring and reporting on a monthly basis the key operational risk indicators related to 
customer/counterparty interaction, processes, systems, information security etc.    
Finally the Bank also focuses on the continuous improvement of the Fraud Risk management by implementing 
a Fraud Risk Management Policy and Procedures Manual.  

(h) Capital management 
Regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratio 
The Bank is subject to the Central Bank (“BoA”) regulation “On capital adequacy” pursuant to the law "On 
Banks in the Republic of Albania” for the purpose of its capital management. In implementing current capital 
requirements, the Central Bank requires from the secondary level banks to maintain a prescribed minimum 
capital adequacy ratio (total regulatory capital to total risk-weighted assets) of 12%. The minimum required 
Tier I Ratio (Tier I capital to total risk-weighted assets ) is 6%. The minimum capital adequacy ratio required 
for Alpha Bank Albania by the Central Bank is 14%.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 
(h) Capital management (continued) 
Regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratio (continued)  

The local regulation on Capital Adequacy is based  on the Basel II requirements. The Bank complied with the 
minimum required Capital Adequacy Ratio at 31 December 2016 and 2015. 
  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 
Total qualifying Tier I capital  5,901,933 5,083,026 
Subordinated debt  2,166,923 2,200,164 
Total qualifying Tier I and II capital  8,068,856 7,283,190 
    
Risk-weighted assets  41,862,138 37,231,217 

    
Capital adequacy ratio  19.27% 19.56% 

The ratios mentioned above are based on the financial statements prepared for regulatory purposes which are 
different from IFRS. Those statements have not yet been finalised, however the Bank does not expect 
significant changes to those financial statements, when finalised.   

49 
 
 



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
5. Fair Value disclosures 
Fair value estimates are based on existing statement of financial position, financial instruments without 
attempting to estimate the value of anticipated future business and the value of assets and liabilities not 
considered financial instruments. 
Available for Sale financial assets- Securities are classified as Level 1 if inputs are quoted prices in active 
markets for identical securities. When the fair value is calculated based on non-binding market prices provided 
by dealers-brokers or using a discounted cash flow model based on a current yield curve appropriate for the 
remaining term to maturity, they are classified as Level 2. Level 3 classification refers to a security with fair 
value estimated using significant unobservable inputs. In this case the fair value is quoted by the calculation 
agent of the issue and confirmed by the Group. 
Loans and advances to financial institutions - Loans and advances to financial institutions include inter-bank 
placements and items in the course of collection. As deposits are short term and at floating rates their fair value 
is considered to approximate their carrying amount. 
Held-to-maturity financial assets - are interest-bearing assets. Because no active market exists for Treasury 
bills and bonds classified as held-to-maturity, the fair value has been estimated using a discounted cash flow 
model based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity and they are classified as 
Level 2. 
Loans and advances to customers - Loans and advances are net of allowances for impairment. The Bank’s 
loan portfolio has an estimated fair value approximately equal to its book value due to either their short-term 
nature or underlying interest rates (which are generally floating rates: T–Bills, EURIBOR, LIBOR plus interest 
margin), which approximate market rates. The majority of the loan portfolio is subject to reprising within a 
year, by changing the base rate. 
Deposits from banks - The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-
interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand. 
Deposits from customers - Because no active market exists for these instruments, the fair value has been 
estimated using a discounted cash flow model based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining 
term to maturity.  
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value 
hierarchy. 
   

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
31 December 2016        
Financial assets        
Available-for-sale financial assets 6,057,360  11,130,644  134,953  17,322,957 
Total 6,057,360  11,130,644  134,953  17,322,957 
        
31 December 2015        
Financial assets        
Available-for-sale financial assets 1,811,264  13,406,711  145,483  15,363,458 
Total 1,811,264  13,406,711  145,483  15,363,458 

There were no purchases or sales in level 3 AFS financial assets and the change in the carrying value of the 
balance is as a results of the change in fair value.
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5. Fair Value disclosures (continued) 

The table below sets out the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value: 

31 December 2016 
  Held-to-

maturity 
  Loans and 

receivables 
  Other amortised 

cost 
  Total carrying 

amount 
  Fair value 

Level 3 
Financial Assets           
Cash and balances with Central Bank  -  12,144,384  -  12,144,384  12,144,384 
Loans and advances to financial 
institutions  -  8,802,474  -  8,802,474  8,802,474 
Held-to-maturity financial assets  863,340  -  -  863,340  880,751 
Loans and advances to customers  -  32,563,711  -  32,563,711  32,563,711 
Total  863,340  53,510,569  -  54,373,909  54,391,320 
           
Financial Liabilities           
Due to banks  -  -   1,984,101   1,984,101  1,984,101 
Due to Customers  -  -   58,837,612   58,837,612  58,891,867 
Subordinated Debt  -  -   2,166,923   2,166,923  2,166,923 
Total  -  -  62,988,636  62,988,636  63,042,891 
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5.  Fair Value disclosures (continued) 

31 December 2015 
  Held-to-

maturity 
  Loans and 

receivables 
  Other amortised 

cost 
  Total carrying 

amount 
  Fair value 

Level 3 
Financial Assets           
Cash and balances with Central Bank  -  9,520,220  -  9,520,220  9,520,220 
Loans and advances to financial 
institutions  -  8,623,717  -  8,623,717  8,623,717 
Held-to-maturity financial assets  1,359,987  -  -  1,359,987  1,404,117 
Loans and advances to customers  -  32,848,922  -  32,848,922  32,848,922 
Total  1,359,987  50,992,859  -  52,352,846  52,396,976 

           
Financial Liabilities           
Due to banks  -  -  6,016  6,016  6,016 
Due to Customers  -  -  55,124,193  55,124,193  55,178,204 
Subordinated Debt  -  -  2,200,164  2,200,164  2,200,164 
Total  -  -  57,330,373  57,330,373  57,384,384 
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6. Net interest income 
 

  2016  2015 
Interest income from:     
Loans and advances to financial institutions   55,060  13,364 
Loans and advances to customers   1,796,656  2,140,342 
Held-to-maturity and repurchase agreements   66,314  120,688 
Balances with Central Bank   22,543  35,192 
AFS securities   843,315  930,680 
Other interest income   14,722  31,608 
  2,798,610  3,271,874 
Interest expense for:     
Due to banks  (37,281)  (6,186) 
Due to customers  (331,067)  (523,592) 
Subordinated debt  (39,458)  (45,255) 
Other  (89,105)  (108,966) 
  (496,911)  (683,999) 
Net interest income  2,301,699  2,587,875 

Please see Note 4 (b) for the amount of interest income from impaired loans. Interest income from loans to 
customers include an amount of Lek 23,096 thousand, which represents the unwinding of discount effect. 

7. Net fee and commission income 

  2016  2015   
Service fees  160,416  130,701 
Telex-Swift  6,901  8,617 
Money transfers  20,379  19,113 
Treasury operation and inter-bank transactions  874  2,213 
Account maintenance  50,439  53,063 
Debit and Credit Cards  59,493  48,606 
Total fee and commission income  298,502  262,313 
Treasury operation and inter-bank transactions  (3,195)  (4,917) 
Service fees  (3,067)  (3,611) 
Debit and Credit Cards  (48,005)  (60,166) 
Total fee and commission expense  (54,267)  (68,694) 
Net fee and commission income  244,235  193,619 

8. Gains less losses on financial transactions 

  2016  2015 
Loss from sales of AFS securities  -  (1,444,507) 
Foreign exchange differences  (75,742)  (29,305) 
Total  (75,742)  (1,473,812) 

9. Personnel expenses 

  2016  2015   
Salaries  610,611  567,720 
Social and health insurance  69,444  66,456 
Training and per diem  7,710  6,473 
Staff housing expense  4,705  6,087 
Other  33,107  70,944 
Total  725,577  717,680 

At 31 December 2016 the Bank had 416 employees (31 December 2015: 427 employees).  
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10. Operating expenses 

  2016  2015   
Buildings rent  226,958  235,057 
Deposits’ insurance fund  190,434  206,683 
Advertising and promotion costs  162,515  155,791 
Computer equipment rent - maintenance  139,560  117,075 
Restructuring costs  67,000  12,879 
Information technology costs  44,532  38,830 
Security services for buildings and cash transport  44,509  54,612 
Electricity   37,740  40,977 
Telecommunications and postage  34,665  49,203 
Stationery and other dispensable materials  20,007  18,801 
Professional fees  19,901  18,299 
Financial information fees  15,278  19,322 
Cleaning services  13,693  17,540 
Maintenance of buildings and equipment  13,438  11,024 
Insurance   12,631  13,692 
Services from collections companies  3,892  3,334 
Other taxes  117,957  118,594 
Other administrative expenses  59,923  30,052 
  1,224,633  1,161,765 

Other taxes includes Lek 105,801 thousand (2015: Lek 110,121thousand) that represent VAT charged on 
expenses.  

11. Income tax  

  2016  2015 
Current income tax  12,875  - 
Deferred tax expense/ (benefit)  661  (661) 
Total income tax expense/ (benefit)  13,536  (661) 

Income tax in Albania is assessed at the rate of 15% (2015: 15%) of taxable income. The following is a 
reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the applicable nominal tax rate to income tax expense. 

  Tax rate  
31 December 

2016  Tax rate  
31 December 

2015 
(Loss)/profit before taxes   (1,383,546)    (1,649,087) 
Tax according to nominal tax 
rate  15.00%  (207,532)  15.00%  (247,363) 
Non-deductible expenses (15.93%)  220,407  (14.96%)  246,702 
Losses carried forward 0.05%  661  0.00%  - 
Income tax expense (0.98%)  13,536  0.04%  (661) 

Based on the local accounting law, starting from 1 January 2008 the Bank must report in accordance with 
IFRS. In addition, Law no. 8438, amended, provides for certain amendments (effective as of 1 January 2014). 
Based on these amendments, the impairment allowances charged by banks in accordance with IFRS shall be 
considered as tax deductible expenses, provided that they are certified by the external auditors.  
The deferred tax assets have been presented net of the deferred tax liabilities as the amounts are due to the 
same tax authority and are expected to be settled on a net basis. Deferred tax has been calculated based on the 
enacted tax rate of 15%.  
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11. Income tax (continued) 

The movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows: 
 2016  2015 
Liability/ (asset) at the beginning of the year 10,636  (132,874) 
Deferred tax expense/ (benefit) 661  (661) 
Deferred tax through other comprehensive income 34,755  144,171 
Liability at the end of the year 46,052  10,636 

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items: 

  2016  2015   
Deferred tax asset     
Tax losses carried forward  -  661 
Deferred tax liability     

Revaluation of AFS financial assets (note 24)  (46,052)  (11,297) 
Net deferred tax liability  (46,052)  (10,636) 

12. Cash and balances with Central Bank 

  2016  2015   
Cash on hand  1,164,256  1,141,070 

In Lek  388,242  419,675 
In foreign currencies  776,014  721,395 

Central Bank  10,980,128  8,379,150 
Current account  5,488,694  3,297,960 
Compulsory reserve  5,491,434  5,081,190 

Total  12,144,384  9,520,220 
In accordance with the Central Bank’s requirement relating to the deposit reserve, the Bank should maintain 
a minimum of 10% of customer deposits with the Central Bank as a reserve account. The statutory reserve is 
not available for the Banks’ day-to-day operations.  
Compulsory reserve in Lek with the Central Bank earned interest at 70% of the repurchase agreements rate, 
which at 31 December 2016 was 0.875% p.a. (2015: 1.225% p.a.). Starting from September 2016, the Central 
Bank charged interest at 0.4% p.a. for the Euro compulsory reserve. For current accounts, the Central Bank is 
also charged interest at 0.65%.   
13. Loans and advances to financial institutions 

  2016  2015 
Current accounts with banks  578,084  3,804,402 

Non-resident  578,084  3,804,402 
Money market placements  8,224,390  4,819,315 

Resident  2,062,992  2,496,930 
Non-resident  6,161,063  2,322,353 
Interest accrued  335  32 

Total  8,802,474  8,623,717 

Current accounts with non-resident banks comprise balances held with Alpha Bank A.E., Athens and Deutsche 
Bank AG. Money market placements with non-resident banks include Lek 6,161,063 thousand (2015: Lek 
2,322,353 thousand) held with other non-resident banks. Money market placements as at 31 December 2016 
earn interest at the following rates: 
• Lek: N/A (2015: 1.7 % to 1.75 % p.a) 
• USD: 0.35% p.a (2015: 0.25 % to 0.27 % p.a) 
• EUR : (0.4%) to 2%p.a (2015: (0.02%) to (0.35%) p.a) 
• GBP : 0.2% p.a (2015: 0.47 % ).  
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14. Held-to-maturity (‘HTM’) financial assets 

  2016  2015  
Government bonds     
     Albanian Government   863,340  1,359,987 
Total  863,340  1,359,987 

Treasury bills 
The Bank has not invested in treasury bills classified as held-to-maturity at 31 December 2016.  
Government Bonds 
The interest for Albanian Government bonds is received semi annually at a coupon rate ranging from 3.37% 
to 10.4% p.a (2015: 5.23% to 10.4% p.a) in Lek. The remaining maturities of the Albanian Government  bonds 
were as follows: 

  2016   2015  

 
Purchase 

price 
Accrued 
interest 

Carrying 
value 

Purchase 
price 

Accrued 
interest 

Carrying 
value 

24 months 650,000 8,794 658,794 1,135,000 19,952 1,154,952 
36 months 200,000 4,546 204,546 - - - 
60 months - - - 200,000 5,035 205,035 

  850,000   13,340   863,340  1,335,000 24,987 1,359,987 

There were no indications that may trigger any impairment of held-to-maturity financial assets. 
15. Available-for-sale (‘AFS’) financial assets 

Listed / Non - listed issuers:  2016  2015   
Listed  6,411,469  6,187,199 

- Government Bonds   3,017,628    3,063,948  
- Corporate Bonds   3,393,841    3,123,251  

Non listed Albanian Government bonds  10,911,488  9,176,259 
Total  17,322,957  15,363,458 

The Bank reviews its debts securities classified as available-for-sale investments at each reporting date to 
assess whether there is any objective evidence that they are impaired. The judgment of management is that the 
events occurred after the initial recognition of those securities do not represent any existence of objective 
evidence for impairment. The fair value, before income tax of the available-for-sale portfolio is presented as 
follows: 
  2016  2015   
Opening balance 1 January    75,310   (885,829) 
Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets   231,703   961,139 
Total   307,013   75,310 

As at year end 31 December 2016, the change in  fair value of Available for Sale portfolio is positive. Except 
for certain corporate securities with negative changes in the fair value, all the other securities have a positive 
change in fair value. Based on the Bank’s assessment, no impairment was calculated for these securities as at 
31 December 2016. 
The effective interest rates on available-for-sale financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2016 
fluctuated between 0% and 9.25% p.a. (2015: 0.25% and 9.25% p.a.). Details by original maturity are 
presented as follows: 
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15. Available-for-sale (‘AFS’) financial assets (continued) 

31 December 2016 
Nominal 

value 
Deferred 
discount 

Accrued 
interest 

Amortized 
Cost 

Revaluation 
difference Fair value 

24 months 8,707,293 15,933 65,383 8,788,609 127,579 8,916,188 
36 months 1,228,097 982 6,867 1,235,946 95,807 1,331,753 
60 months 2,479,697 23,899 16,855 2,520,451 43,319 2,563,770 
over 60 month 3,928,347 422,069 120,522 4,470,938 40,308 4,511,246 
Total 16,343,434 462,883 209,627 17,015,944 307,013 17,322,957 

 

31 December 2015 
Nominal 

value 
Deferred 
discount 

Accrued 
interest 

Amortized 
Cost 

Revaluation 
difference Fair value 

24 months 6,388,178 48,589 49,116 6,485,883 (14,497) 6,471,386 
36 months 2,950,000 - 36421 2,986,421 63,524 3,049,945 
60 months 2,820,912 17,628 14118 2,852,658 39,679 2,892,337 
over 60 month 2,817,364 73,519 72,303 2,963,186 (13,396) 2,949,790 
Total 14,976,454 139,736 171,958 15,288,148 75,310 15,363,458 

The table below shows the movements in the balances of available-for-sale investments as at 31 December 
2016 and 31 December 2015, including additions, maturing and sale of investments during these years: 

 Movements in available-for-sale assets 
 2016  2015 

Opening Balance on 1 January  15,363,458  30,882,503 
Sales  -  (5,204,083) 
Purchases 4,297,098  3,406,637 
Maturing (2,569,302)  (14,682,738) 
Fair value changes recycled to profit or loss -  1,444,507 
Fair value fluctuations 231,703  (483,368) 
Closing Balance on 31 December 17,322,957  15,363,458 

During 2016, the Bank did not sell any security. During 2015, the Bank sold to Alpha Bank A.E. available-
for-sale financial assets at prices higher than market prices at the date of the respective transactions. 
Accumulated losses on the fair value of these AFS financial assets of Lek 1,444,507 thousand, previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income, were reclassified from equity to profit or loss, whilst the difference 
of Lek 1,397,411 thousand between the fair value of the financial assets at disposal and their sale proceeds, 
was recognized within equity.  
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16. Loans and advances to customers 

  2016  2015 
Gross loans  33,906,481  34,026,321 
Deferred loan origination fees  (57,475)  (54,953) 
Accrued interest  1,073,397  1,823,752 
  34,922,403  35,795,120 
Less allowance for impairment  (2,358,692)  (2,946,198) 
Total  32,563,711  32,848,922 

Movements in the impairment allowances are as follows: 

  2016  2015 
Balance at the beginning of the year  2,946,198  3,501,441 
Loans written off  (1,189,746)  (1,524,053) 
Impairment loss  1,891,780  992,696 
Loans sold (see Note 28)  (1,306,893)  - 
Translation differences  (5,743)  (23,886) 
Change in the fair value of the allowance account  23,096  - 
Balance at the end of the year  2,358,692  2,946,198 

All impaired loans have been written down to their recoverable amounts. Impairment losses charged to the 
profit or loss are presented net of recoveries for loans written off: 
  2016  2015  
Impairment loss  1,891,780  992,696 
Recoveries from loans written off  (15,593)  (28,316) 
  1,876,187  964,380 

Movements in the provision for loan losses by classes of loans and advances are detailed as follows: 

 Corporate loans Retail Loans Total 
Balance at 1 January 2015 2,731,465 769,976 3,501,441 
Impairment losses 2,201,501 415,162 2,616,663 
Reversals (1,309,514) (314,453) (1,623,967) 
Write offs (1,448,689) (75,364) (1,524,053) 
Translation differences (20,977) (2,909) (23,886) 
Balance at 31 December 2015 2,153,786 792,412 2,946,198 
Impairment losses 3,123,647 506,141 3,629,788 
Reversals (1,397,719) (340,289) (1,738,008) 
Loans sold (see Note 28) (1,306,893) - (1,306,893) 
Write offs (1,019,839) (169,906) (1,189,745) 
Translation differences (3,286) (2,458) (5,744) 
Change in the fair value of the allowance account 11,694 11,402 23,096 
Balance at 31 December 2016 1,561,390 797,302 2,358,692 
As at 31 December 2015    
Individual impairment  2,124,724 107,573 2,232,297 
Collective impairment 29,061 684,840 713,901 
 2,153,785 792,413 2,946,198 
As at 31 December 2016    
Individual impairment  1,368,507 66,804 1,435,311 
Collective impairment 192,883 730,498 923,381 
 1,561,390 797,302 2,358,692 
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17. Property and equipment 

 Equipment 
Computers 

and furniture  
Vehicles and 
other assets 

Leasehold 
improvements Total 

Cost      
At 1 January 2015 224,655 853,456 90,919 1,314,443 2,483,473 
Additions 1,153 21,168 9,227 4,763 36,311 
Write – offs (5,674) (38,923) - (19,178) (63,775) 
Disposals (968) (2,982) (1,899) - (5,849) 
At 31 December 2015 219,166 832,719 98,247 1,300,028 2,450,160 
Additions 2,693 18,041 10,470 16,914 48,118 
Write – offs (2,539) (21,222)  (152,285) (176,046) 
Disposals (3,001) (3,039) (10,478)  (16,518) 
At 31 December 2016 216,319 826,499 98,239 1,164,657 2,305,714       
Accumulated depreciation     
At 1 January 2015 (214,327) (814,510) (62,007) (559,301) (1,650,145) 
Charge for the year (4,437) (18,311) (7,880) (74,449) (105,077) 
Write – offs 5,674 38,813 - 6,409 50,896 
Disposals 968 2,854 34 - 3,856 
At 31 December 2015 (212,122) (791,154) (69,853) (627,341) (1,700,470) 
Charge for the year (3,058) (15,735) (7,769) (66,868) (93,430) 
Write – offs 2,464 21,138 - 85,443 109,045 
Disposals 3,001 3,039 10,114 - 16,154 
At 31 December 2016 (209,715) (782,712) (67,508) (608,766) (1,668,701) 
Carrying amounts     
At 1 January 2015 10,328 38,946 28,912 755,142 833,328 
At 31 December 2015 7,044 41,565 28,394 672,687 749,690 
At 31 December 2016 6,604 43,787 30,731 555,891 637,013 

There are no assets pledged as collateral as at 31 December 2016 (2015: none). 

Vehicles and other assets as at 31 December 2016, include vehicles under a finance lease agreement which 
results in finance lease liabilities (note 23). At 31 December 2016 the net carrying amount of leased vehicles 
was  Lek 21,200 thousand (2015: Lek 20,721 thousand). 
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18. Intangible assets 

 Software 
Cost  
At 1 January 2015 382,301 
Additions 1,262 
At 31 December 2015 383,563 
Additions 16,153 
At 31 December 2016 399,716 
  

Accumulated amortization  
At 1 January 2015 (345,492) 
Charge for the year (19,616) 
At 31 December 2015 (365,108) 
Charge for the year (12,102) 
At 31 December 2016 (377,210) 
  

Carrying amounts  
At 1 January 2015 36,809 
At 31 December 2015 18,455 
At 31 December 2016 22,506 

19. Other assets and repossessed assets 

Other assets are comprised as follows: 

  2016  2015   
Prepaid expenses  33,204  26,548 
Other debtors  192,581  176,171 
Other receivables  580,566  - 
Total  806,351  202,719 

Reposessed assets consist mainly of real estate property acquired through the enforcement of security over 
customer loans and advances. The fair value of reposessed assets is classified in terms of fair value hierarchy 
in Level 3, since the Bank has made use of research inputs, assumptions and inputs relating to properties of 
relevant characteristics and therefore encompass a range of non-observable market inputs. 

  2016  2015 
Residential properties  49,723  20,464 
Commercial properties  222,047  222,261 
Other properties  133,289  96,959 
Total  405,059  339,684 

Total additions in reposessed assets in 2016, were Lek 79,795 thousand (2015: Lek 52,103 thousand). During 
2016, the Bank recognized write downs of Lek 11,819 thousand (2015: Lek 112 thousand), for these assets. 
The sales of repossessed assets amounted Lek 1,568 thousand (2015: Lek 264,576 thousand) with a net gain 
of Lek 32 thousand (2015: Lek 10,962 thousand) included in other operating income. 

The movements in the repossessed assets are presented below: 

  2016  2015  
At 1 January  339,684  552,045 
Additions  79,795  52,103 
Sales  (1,568)  (264,576) 
Write downs  (11,819)  (112) 
Other differences  (1,033)  224 
At 31 December  405,059  339,684 
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20. Due to banks  

  2016  2015  

Current accounts  62,830  6,016 

Reverse Repo  1,190,567  - 

Borrowings  730,566  - 

Interest accrued  138  - 

Total  1,984,101  6,016 

During 2016, the Bank has pledged two Albanian Government Bonds with a nominal value of Lek 1,500,000 

thousand for performing the reverse repo transaction with Central Bank. The bonds have a carrying amount 

of Lek 1,517,565 thousand and fair value of Lek 1,560,093 thousand  as at 31 December 2016. 

21. Due to customers 

  2016   2015  

  

Local 

currency 

Foreign 

currency Total 

Local 

currency 

Foreign 

currency Total 

Current accounts       
Individuals 2,900,772 4,983,784 7,884,556 2,169,561 3,228,453 5,398,014 

Private enterprises 1,375,059 2,352,525 3,727,584 1,172,411 1,862,669 3,035,080 

Public enterprises 162,509 414,426 576,935 93,861 298,340 392,201 

 4,438,340 7,750,735 12,189,075 3,435,833 5,389,462 8,825,295 

Savings accounts       
Individuals 2,238,943 5,855,601 8,094,544 1,961,120 4,808,695 6,769,815 

 2,238,943 5,855,601 8,094,544 1,961,120 4,808,695 6,769,815 

Term deposits       
Individuals 17,244,893 20,341,855 37,586,748 18,454,748 20,097,698 38,552,446 

Private enterprises 182,105 626,553 808,658 87,485 655,729 743,214 

 17,426,998 20,968,408 38,395,406 18,542,233 20,753,427 39,295,660        
Accrued interest 130,752 27,835 158,587 189,119 44,304 233,423 

Total 24,235,033 34,602,579 58,837,612 24,128,305 30,995,888 55,124,193 

Current and savings accounts bear interest rates ranging from 0% to 0.45% for Lek (2015: from 0.1% to 1.4% 

p.a) and from 0 % to 0.2% p.a. for foreign currencies as at 31 December 2016 (2015: 0.1% to 0.4 % p.a), 

excluding preferential interest rates. 

Term deposits bear interest rates ranging from 0.1% to 0.9% p.a. for Lek (2015: from 0.4% to 2.5 % p.a.) and 

from 0.02% to 0.22% p.a. for foreign currencies (2015: from 0.05% to 0.6%p.a.) excluding preferential interest 

rates. 

22. Subordinated debt 

  2016  2015  

Subordinated Debt  2,163,680  2,196,480 

Accrued Interest  3,243  3,684 

Total  2,166,923  2,200,164 

The subordinated debt of Lek 2,166,923 thousand (Euro 16 million) was granted from Alpha Bank A.E. 

through the agreement dated 12 May 2011. 

The principal is payable upon maturity, on 31 May 2021 (the amount of Euro 6 million) and on 31 May 2022 

(the amount of Euro 10 million), whilst the interest is payable on a quarterly basis. The debt bears interest at 

EURIBOR 3-month + 2% (2015: EURIBOR 3-month + 2% ).  



ALPHA BANK ALBANIA SHA 
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
(Amounts in thousands of Lek, unless otherwise stated) 
 
23. Other liabilities 

  2016  2015   
Transactions as agent (State budget)  51,851  51,838 
Finance lease liabilities  20,588  20,545 
Social insurance payable  2,942  2,961 
Payments in transit  22,808  4,238 
Suppliers and accrued expenses  220,495  165,930 
Cheques for collections  315  326 
VAT payable  24,241  14,460 
Suspense accounts  49,728  61,525 
Tax other than income tax  29,200  36,593 
Provisions for other debtors  24,748  24,828 
Other  15,712  126 
Total  462,628  383,370 

24. Share capital and other reserves 
The Bank’s authorized, issued and fully paid capital comprises a 100% stockholding by Alpha Bank A.E., 
Athens. There were no movements in share capital in 2016. At 31 December 2016 and 2015, the share capital 
of the Bank includes contributions denominated in USD and in EUR as follows: 

Currency In original currency In Lek ‘000 Exchange rate 
USD 10,080,000 1,084,003 107.54 
EUR 61,152,499 8,495,917 138.93 
EUR 10,000,000 1,380,200 138.02 
Total  10,960,120  

Upon its transformation to subsidiary in 2012, the Bank used the historical foreign exchange rates approved by 
the Central Bank as of  31 December 2011, to register its share capital. This conversion resulted in the creation 
of a negative translation reserve of Lek 243,192 thousand, which is classified within Other reserves. Other 
reserves are comprised as follows: 
  2016  2015   
Fair value reserve (AFS financial assets)         307,013             75,310  
Tax effect on the fair value reserve (see note 11)          (46,052)          (11,297) 
Conversion reserve (see note 15)        (243,192)        (243,192) 
Total        17,769         (179,179) 

 
25. Legal reserve 
The legal reserve was established according to the Central Bank regulation “On the minimum initial capital for 
allowed activities of banks and branches of foreign licensed banks”, No.51, dated 22 April 1999. Banks and 
branches of foreign banks create reserves of 1.25% up to 2% of the total risk weighted assets, by appropriating 
one fifth of the profit, after taxes and before payment of dividends.  
The provisions of the Commercial Law require the creation of reserves of 5% of the Bank’s net income after 
deducton of accumulated losses from previous years. This threshold is not mandatory, when the existing 
reserves are not less than one tenth of the Bank’s capital. 

26. Cash and cash equivalent 

  2016  2015   
Cash in hand  1,164,256  1,141,070 
Current accounts with Central Bank  5,488,694  3,297,960 
Nostro and sight accounts with other banks  578,084  3,804,402 
Short term placements with other banks  8,224,390  4,819,315 
Total  15,455,424  13,062,747 
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27. Commitments and contingencies 
Commitments and contingencies include guarantees received from and extended to customers as follows: 

  2016  2015   
Contingent liabilities     
Guarantees in favour of customers  368,437  438,429 
Letters of Credit  266,385  - 
Undrawn credit commitments  1,878,291  1,723,880 

Letters of credit and guarantees given to customers commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers 
contingent upon the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the contract. 
Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits. 
Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may 
expire without being drawn upon, the total amounts do not necessarily represent cash requirements. 
Legal claims and litigations 
In the normal course of business the Bank is presented with legal claims and litigation. The Bank’s 
management is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in relation to legal claims outstanding 
as at 31 December 2016 (31 December 2015: the same). 

Lease commitments 
The Bank’s future minimum rentals payable under operating leases are as follows: 

  2016  2015  
Not later than 1 year  226,652  246,264      
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  859,262  921,626      
Later than 5 years  1,899,669  2,180,558      
Total  2,985,583  3,348,448      

As of 31 December 2016, the non-cancelable lease commitments are Lek 58,287 thousand (31 December 
2015: 60,094 thousand Lek).  
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28. Related party transactions 

In the course of conducting its banking business, the Bank entered into various business transactions with 
related parties. The related parties with whom the Bank entered into business transactions are: 

  2016  2015 
Alpha Bank Group - assets     

Loans and advances to financial institutions  3,217,329  209,082 
Other receivables  580,556  - 

Alpha Bank Group - liabilities     
Subordinated debt   2,166,923  2,200,164 
Due to banks  8,438  201 
Other liabilities  690,893  59,304 

Bank Directors     
Loans to Bank Directors  35,381  37,682 
Deposits and current accounts  77,045  71,192 
Collateral taken  34,126  53,800 

Interest income arising from     
Loans and advances from financial institutions  48,053  8,330 
Loans and advances to Bank Directors  850   593 

Interest expense arising from     
Due to banks  39,459  45,256 
Customer deposits – Bank Directors  171  281 

Other expenses     
Other expenses  124,752  141,215 

Remuneration for Bank Directors  61,349  62,112 
Remuneration of non-executive members   3,291  2,642 

During 2016, the Bank did not perform any securities sales transaction with the Parent.  

In December 2016, the Bank sold part of the loans portfolio with a carrying amount of Lek 580,566 thousand 
to Alpha Bank AE at a price equal to the carrying amount.  

During 2015, the Bank sold available-for-sale bonds to the Parent with a total value of Lek 5,204,083 thousand 
(see note 15). The Bank realized a loss of Lek 1,444,507 thousand from such sales. During 2015 the Bank did 
not purchase bonds from the Parent.  
29. Subsequent events 

There are no significant subsequent events after the reporting date which requires adjustment or disclosure in 
these financial statements. 

 

64 
 
 



28



ANNUAL REPORT 2016

29

ANNUAL REPORT 2015 ANNUAL REPORT 2016 


	Alpha IFRS 2016 ENG.PDF
	Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
	for the year ended 31 December
	Statement of financial position
	Statement of changes in equity
	Statement of cash flows
	1. General
	2. Basis of preparation
	3. Summary of significant accounting policies
	4. Financial risk management (continued)
	4. Financial risk management (continued)
	4. Financial risk management (continued)
	Liquidity Risk Monitoring
	Liquidity Crisis Management
	Liquidity Crisis Management (continued)

	5. Fair Value disclosures
	6. Net interest income
	7. Net fee and commission income
	8. Gains less losses on financial transactions
	9. Personnel expenses
	10. Operating expenses
	11. Income tax
	11. Income tax (continued)
	12. Cash and balances with Central Bank
	13. Loans and advances to financial institutions
	14. Held-to-maturity (‘HTM’) financial assets
	15. Available-for-sale (‘AFS’) financial assets
	16. Loans and advances to customers
	18. Intangible assets
	19. Other assets and repossessed assets
	23. Other liabilities
	24. Share capital and other reserves
	25. Legal reserve
	26. Cash and cash equivalent
	27. Commitments and contingencies
	29. Subsequent events


